Teach Primary

Teaching Practices in Five Cantons of Bosnia and Herzegovina

RESULTS OF THE TEACH PRIMARY CLASSROOM OBSERVATION STUDY







Funded by the European Union

Teach Primary

Teaching Practices in Five Cantons of Bosnia and Herzegovina

Results of the Teach Primary Classroom Observation Study

February 2023

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	3
List of Figures	3
List of Tables	4
List of Acronyms	4
Acknowledgements	5
'At a Glance' Overview and Results: An insight into teaching practices	7
Introduction	11
Theoretical Framework: Capturing Teaching Practices	13
Teach Primary Results: Insights into Teaching Practices	17
Area 1: Classroom Culture Results	20
Classroom Culture: Heterogeneity Analysis	
Area 2: Instruction Results	
Instruction: Heterogeneity Analysis	37
Area 3: Socioemotional Skills Results	37
Socioemotional Skills: Heterogeneity Analysis	45
Understanding teachers' implementation of inclusive practices	46
Results: Inclusive teaching practices	48
Conclusion and Recommendations	49
References	55
Annex 1: Summary Table of Results	58
Annex 2: Observer Feedback	59

List of Figures

Figure 1: Teach Framework	. 13
Figure 2: Distribution of TEACH Primary scores from 1 to 5 (Percentages)	. 17
Figure 3: Distribution of Average Teach Primary Scores by Area and Overall	. 18
Figure 4:Distribution of Time on Task variables	. 18
Figure 5: Distribution of Average Teach Primary Scores by Element	. 19
Figure 6: Supportive Learning Environment	.21
Figure 7: Positive Behavioral Expectations	. 23
Figure 8: Classroom Culture – Heterogeneity Analysis	. 26
Figure 9: Lesson Facilitation	. 27
Figure 10: Checks for Understanding	. 31
Figure 11: Feedback	.33
Figure 12: Critical Thinking	.35
Figure 13: Instruction – Heterogeneity Analysis	. 37
Figure 14: Autonomy	. 38
Figure 15: Perseverance	. 40
Figure 16: Social & Collaborative Skills	. 43
Figure 17: Socioemotional Skills – Heterogeneity Analysis	. 45
Figure 18: Descriptive Statistics for UDL Principles and Overall Quality of Inclusive Teaching	
Practices Scores	. 48

List of Tables

Table 1: Overview of Study	7
Table 2 Examples of Supportive Learning Environment behavior scores	22
Table 3 Examples of Positive Behavioral Expectations behavior scores	25
Table 4 Examples of Lesson Facilitation behavior scores	
Table 5 : Examples of Checks for Understanding behavior scores	32
Table 6 : Examples of Feedback behavior scores	
Table 7: Examples of Critical Thinking behavior scores	
Table 8: Examples of Autonomy behavior scores	
Table 9: Examples of Perseverance behavior scores	41
Table 10:Examples of Social and Collaborative Skills behavior scores	
Table 11: UDL Principles, Sub-Principles and Teach Behaviors	

List of Acronyms

BiH	Bosnia and Herzegovina
CLASS	Classroom Assessment Scoring System
PLATO	Protocol for Language arts Teaching Observations
OPERA	Observation of Teaching Practices in Relation to Pupil Learning
SCOPE	Standards-based Classroom Observation Protocol for Egypt
SDI	Service Delivery Indicators
SEL	Socioemotional Learning
TIPPS	Teacher Instructional Practices and Processes System
UDL	Universal Design for Learning

Acknowledgements

This report was prepared by a World Bank team led by James Gresham. The core team included: Sharanya Ramesh Vasudevan, Sidik Lepić, Ivona Čelebičić, Lamija Spahić, Andrea Soldo, Maja Alihodžić and Aakriti Kalra. The team would also like to thank Zuhra Osmanovic-Pasic, Sabina Djapo, Diego Luna Bazaldua, and Dessislava Kuznetsova.

Data collection was undertaken by the survey firm proMENTE as well as enumerators who were chosen by ProMente and passed the Teach Primary certification exam, a prerequisite to partake in the study.

The team would like to extend its sincerest gratitude to the Ministry of Civil Affairs of BiH, Federal Ministry of Education and Science, and the Ministries of Education and Pedagogical Institutes in selected cantons for facilitating this study and contributing to its design and implementation. Finally, the team would also like to thank all the teachers who agreed to participate in the study and to recording of their classrooms for the Teach Primary training.

'At a Glance' Overview and Results: An insight into teaching practices

This study in Bosnia and Herzegovina (BiH) was conducted as part of the Functional Review of Education Service Delivery under the 'Support to Public Sector Management Reform' Project and with financial support from the European Commission. Based on recommendations from earlier stages of the Education Functional Review, this technical assistance activity provides targeted support to select jurisdictions in BiH on improving pedagogical practices through classroom observations. Teach Primary is a classroom observation tool that was implemented in five cantons as part of this study: Zenica-Doboj, West Herzegovina, Sarajevo, Tuzla and Una-Sana.

The Teach Primary tool measures the time teachers spend on learning activities in a typical lesson, the extent to which students are on task, and the quality of teaching practices over the course of a teacher's lesson. As part of the Time on Task component, 3 "snapshots" of 1–10 seconds are used to record both the teacher's actions and the number of students who are on task during the snapshot. The Quality of Teaching Practices component, on the other hand, is organized into three broad areas: Classroom Culture, Instruction, and Socioemotional Skills. These areas have nine corresponding elements that point to twenty-eight behaviors. The behaviors are characterized as low, medium, or high, based on the evidence observed in this classroom. These preliminary scores are translated into a five-point scale, which quantifies the teacher's practices as captured in two, 15-minute observations.

With the aim of conducting classroom observations using the TEACH Primary tool, the World Bank contracted a local social science research firm in BiH, pro-MENTE. After the ProMENTE team was selected for this task, two TEACH Master trainers from WBG conducted a TEACH training session combining both synchoronous and asynchronous methodologies, from May 10th – 18th 2022. All 5 proMENTE trainers passed the reliability exam.

Table 1: Overview of Study					
Location	B&H				
Number of Schools		76			
% of Urban Schools		50%			
% of Rural School		50%			
Number of Teachers		379			
% of Female Teachers		86%			
# of Teach Observations		380			
Median Class Size	17				
Number of Students	6,346				
% of Male Students	50%				
% of Female Students	50%				
	Grade 1	8%			
	Grade 2	7%			
	Grade 3	15%			
% of Grade Level Observed	Grade 4	16%			
	Grade 5	17%			
	Grade 6	31%			
	Multigrade	7%			
	Mathematics	25%			
Subject Distribution	Mother Language	28%			
	Other	47%			

These five TEACH Master trainers from proMENTE then went on to conduct the training of 30 BiH staff from the five selected cantons.¹ This training combined in-person (3 days) and online training (2 days) tools. Participants included staff from pedagogical institutes, Institute for the Development of Pre-University Education (Sarajevo Canton), Ministry of Education, Science, Culture and Sports (West-Herzegovina Canton), Ministry of Education and Science (Tuzla Canton), and staff from a number of Primary Schools (Una Sana Canton). 27 participants passed the reliability exam out of which 22 participants went on to observe classrooms in 5 cantons in BiH, that formed the basis for this study.

During the training, the participants learned about the structure of the tool, i.e. components, elements and behaviors. For the purpose of the training, short (2-3 minutes) and medium-length (15-minute) videos of local classrooms were used, which were recorded in Zenica-Doboj Canton with the support of the Pedagogical Institute of the Zenica-Doboj Canton. Participants were offered various examples, scenarios for practice, as well as quizzes to check knowledge and identify difficulties in mastering the content. Work on assignments required individual and group engagement.

On the final day of training, participants took a reliability test where they had to code 3 full length videos that were 15 minutes each. To pass the exam, participants had to reliably rate 8 out of 10 elements in each video. For the Learning Time element, participants were considered reliable if they fully agreed with the master code for two out of three "snapshot". For all other elements, participants were cruronsidered reliable if their rating of the elements did not differ from the master code by more than one point/rating.

Participants who did not pass the exam in the first attempt received feedback and another opportunity to take the exam. In the second exam, they watched three other videos. Participants who passed the exam were certified as Teach Primary observers, and received a certificate valid for one year. Certified observers are hired to observe classes in selected schools that belong to the area/ canton they come from.

STUDY SAMPLE:

This study was designed to measure the quality of teaching practices in a selection of 76 primary schools (50% rural and 50% urban) in five cantons of BiH. 22 observers², who were trained and certified to conduct classroom observations, captured the practices of 379 teachers (86% female) **(Table 1)**

In order to present a reliable picture of the quality of teaching practices in the selected cantons of BiH, a representative sample of schools from the participating 5 cantons was selected. Representatives of the ministries of education from these 5 cantons submitted a list of schools. From that list, a random selection was made of schools where observations would be conducted. In the cantons participating in this study, there are 259 primary schools in total, of which 76 (29.3 percent of total) were randomly selected. From these 76 schools, 380 classroom observations were conducted in total. The observations included schools in both urban and rural areas. In each of the selected schools, a total of 5 observations of different classes from the first to the sixth grade (including grades that have combined classrooms) were conducted. Subjects that were covered in the observed classes es included Mathematics, Social Sciences, Mother Tongue language and Natural Science. Subjects

¹ Participants from Zenica-Doboj, West-Herzegovina & Tuzla Cantons attended trainings from August 29th – 5th September 2022 and participants from Una-Sana & Sarajevo Canton attended trainings from 5th September 2022 – 10th September 2022.

^{2 30} participants were trained out of which 27 were certified. However, only 22 observers finally conducted the classroom observations (this included 2 members from the proMENTE team).

such as arts, sports, and religion classes were excluded. The data collected on the basis of the conducted observations were entered into the SurveyCTO data collection platform.

SUMMARY OF TEACH RESULTS

Teachers in the five selected cantons of BiH are seen to have strong ability in building classroom culture, as more than 90% of observed teachers demonstrated effectiveness in this area scoring higher than 3 out of 5 on the Teach Primary scale). However, they demonstrate less effectiveness in building socioemotional skills as only 27% of teachers score higher than 3 out of 5 in this area. With respect to instruction, 74% of teachers demonstrate effectiveness, which still leaves a considerable share of teachers without obtaining mastery in this area. **Figure 2.**

Teach results show that a majority of teachers are highly effective at creating a supportive learning environment (85% of teachers score a 4 or 5), setting positive behavioral expectations (78%), lesson facilitation (80%) and using checks for understanding (61%). However, a large share of teachers are ineffective (Scoring 1 out of 5) at fostering collaborative classroom environment (55%), building critical thinking skills (13%) and providing students with feedback (14%). **Figure 5** highlights the distribution of scores by element.

Results of the BiH Teach Primary Observation Study

Introduction

School enrollment has increased substantially over the last 25 years in low and middle-income countries. Schooling, basic reading, writing, and arithmetic skills (World Development Report, 2018) — a state of affairs UNESCO (2013) dubbed the "global learning crisis." Around the world, the learning crisis is, at its core, a teaching crisis (Bold et al., 2017). This report details the nature of teaching practices across Bosnia and Herzegovina as captured by the high-inference classroom observation tool, Teach.

Why Measure teachING practices?

Identifying effective teaching is not easy. Research indicates teacher characteristics such as formal education, years of experience (beyond the first two), cognitive skills, and entry exam performance scores only explain a small fraction of the variation in teacher effectiveness (Staiger & Rockoff, 2010; Araujo et al., 2016; Bau & Das, 2017; Cruz-Aguayo et al., 2017). Variation in student learning is better explained by teachers' practices in the classroom. For example, a seminal study in Ecuador found a one SD increase in teacher quality, as measured by teachers' scores on the CLASS observation tool, is associated with a 0.18 SD increase in learning outcomes (Araujo et al., 2016). Moreover, teachers' scores on classroom observation tools in the United States are positively associated with student achievement gains (Kane & Staiger, 2009; Kane & Staiger, 2009; Hamre et al., 2014; Holtzapple, 2003; Milanowski, 2004). However, it's not simply teaching practices that exhibit positive effects as the improvement of their practices also has positive effects on student outcomes. For instance, students of Chilean teachers who were given access to classroom observation feedback and coaching performed .05-.09 SD higher on state tests and .04-.06 SD higher on national tests than those whose teachers did not receive such feedback (Bruns et al., 2016). Moreover, a study of over 60 coaching programs found those designed to advance teaching practices (0.58 SD) also resulted in increased student learning (0.15 SD) (Kraft et al., 2018).

BACKGROUND OF THIS STUDY

Bosnia & Herzegovina faces a learning crisis in basic education, with nearly 60 percent of students either reaching only low benchmarks for achievement or failing to reach such benchmarks. This is the case for Grade 4 students in both mathematics and science, according to the latest round of TIMSS 2019. However, the results are similar for students in secondary education according to PISA 2018, where over half of 15-year-old students did not achieve basic competencies required for reading, mathematics, and science.

One of the critical factors contributing to this learning crisis are teaching practices that are insufficiently geared towards learning. A functional review conducted by the World Bank highlights several important shortcomings in terms of teacher skills, namely the lack of professional standards and criteria for teachers as guiding force for the profession, the lack of relevant data for assessment and evaluation purposes, and insufficient opportunities for continuous professional development of teachers. Classroom observations represent a valuable tool for improvement and they are expected as part of the teacher policy framework in selected jurisdictions studied, but they are not sufficient informative to drive change. Global evidence shows that teaching practices and behaviors observed through classroom observations can account for significant improvements in student learning. Some examples of this includes practices aimed at enhancing classroom management and instructional quality, as well as instructional practices that allow students to evaluate, integrate and apply learned knowledge (OECD, 2019). Multiple studies show that teachers' measurable characteristics—e.g. level of education, years of experience, or salary level—do not explain or predict student learning. Instead, pedagogical practices and behaviors of teachers are key to improving learning outcomes, but currently there is little information on pedagogical practices across schools in BiH. Documenting and measuring pedagogical practices through classroom observations is a first step towards improving teacher CPD policy and towards building the capacity of pedagogues, teachers, school principals, and staff of pedagogical institutes to support school improvement efforts.

In response to this need, the World Bank along with BiH counterparts and the ProMENTE survey firm have implemented the TEACH classroom observation tool in Zenica-Doboj, West Herzegovina, Sarajevo, Tuzla and Una-Sana cantons in an attempt to gain better insight into teaching practices in BiH. These cantons were selected for this stageto ensure a mix of ethnic composition, enrollment size, and implementation readiness.

Theoretical Framework: Capturing Teaching Practices

WHAT DOES TEACH PRIMARY MEASURE?

Teach Primary measures over the course of a teacher's lesson (i) the time teachers spend on learning and the extent to which students are on task, and (ii) the quality of teaching practices that help develop students' socio-emotional and cognitive skills.

As part of the Time on Task component, 3 "snapshots" of 1–10 seconds are used to record both the teacher's actions and the number of students who are on task throughout the observation. The Quality of Teaching Practices component, on the other hand, is organized into 3 primary areas: Classroom Culture, Instruction, and Socio-emotional Skills.³



The 3 quality of teaching practices' areas have 9 corresponding elements that point to 30 behaviors. The behaviors are characterized as low, medium, or high, based on the quality of teaching practices observed. These behavior scores are translated into a 5-point scale that quantifies teaching practices as captured in a series of two, 15-minute lesson observations.

1. Classroom Culture: The teacher creates a culture that is conducive to learning. The focus here is not on the teacher correcting students' negative behaviors but rather the extent to which the teacher creates: (i) a supportive learning environment by treating all students respectfully, consistently using positive language, responding to students' needs, and both challenging gender stereotypes and not exhibiting bias (against gender or students with disabilities) in the classroom; and (ii) positive behavioral expectations by setting clear behavioral expectations, acknowledging positive student behavior, and effectively redirecting misbehavior.

³ It should be noted that it is impossible to draw a clear line between teaching practices linked to academic versus socio-emotional learning. Many teaching practices included in common professional teaching frameworks do impact student's socio-emotional development, though are usually thought of in terms of academic rather than socio-emotional learning. Explicitly linking teaching practices with socio-emotional outcomes in measures used for assessment will serve to increase the salience of student's socio-emotional skills to teachers, as well as to other stakeholders and policymakers, thus ensuring a focus on both academic and socio-emotional learning in the classroom.

- 2. Instruction: The teacher instructs in a way that deepens student understanding and encourages critical thinking and analysis. The focus here is not on content-specific methods of instruction, but rather the extent to which the teacher: (i) facilitates the lesson by explicitly articulating lesson objectives that are aligned to the learning activity, clearly explaining content using multiple forms of representation, and connecting the learning activity to other content knowledge or students' daily lives, and by modeling the learning activity through enacting or thinking aloud; (ii) does not simply move from one topic to the next but checks for understanding by using questions, prompts, or other strategies to determine students' level of understanding, by monitoring students during group and independent work, and by adjusting his/her teaching to the level of students; (iii) gives feedback by providing specific comments or prompts to help clarify students' misunderstandings or identify their successes; and (iv) encourages students to think critically by asking open-ended questions and providing students with thinking tasks that require them to actively analyze content. Students exhibit critical thinking ability by asking open-ended questions or performing thinking tasks.
- **3.** Socio-emotional Skills: The teacher fosters socio-emotional skills that encourage students to succeed both inside and outside the classroom. To develop students' social and emotional skills, the teacher: (i) instills autonomy by providing students with opportunities to make choices and take on meaningful roles in the classroom. Students exhibit their autonomy by volunteering to participate in classroom activities; (ii) promotes perseverance by acknowl-edging students' efforts, rather than focusing solely on their intelligence or natural abilities, by having a positive attitude toward students' challenges by framing failure and frustrations as part of the learning process, and by encouraging students to set short- and long-term goals; and (iii) fosters social and collaborative skills by encouraging collaboration through peer interaction and by promoting interpersonal skills, such as perspective taking, empathizing, emotion regulation, and social problem solving. Students exhibit social and collaborative skills by collaborating with one another through peer interaction.

HOW WAS TEACH PRIMARY DEVELOPED?

The Teach Primary development team rigorously researched, revised, and piloted different iterations of the tool over a 2-year timeframe: First, the development team — which comprised 1 education measurement expert, 1 instructional expert, 1 psychologist and 1 teacher — assessed 5 classroom observation tools widely used in the United States to create an inventory of teaching practices that are commonly evaluated.⁴ The team then built upon this list to include behaviors from international classroom observation tools used in developing countries.⁵ Based on this preliminary analysis, the team created an inventory of 3 areas and 43 elements.⁶

Secondly, the development team hosted a working group of 22 education experts and practitioners to help further reduce and prioritize elements for the Teach Primary framework. Participants were asked to indicate whether any elements were missing from the inventory, to rank the elements and areas by relevance, and to identify elements they characterized as unobservable. This process reduced the framework to 25 elements. Then, the development team reviewed the theoretical and empirical evidence from developing countries to further eliminate elements from the framework. This process resulted in a downsized framework of 14 elements.

⁴ The Teach Primary framework built upon the inventory created by Gill and others (2016), who conducted a content analysis of the differences in dimensions of instructional practice of 5 commonly used classroom observation tools comparing the behaviors they measure with the extent to which they predict student learning. The tools included CLASS, FFT, PLATO, Mathematical Quality of Instruction, and UTeach Observational Protocol. The content, predictive power, and potential bias of these instruments were also analyzed as part of this preliminary framework.

⁵ These included OPERA, SCOPE, SDI, Stallings, and TIPPS.

⁶ Elements refer to groups of multiple, similar behaviors that aim to capture teaching practices related to positive learning outcomes

These 14 elements comprised the first working version of the tool, which aimed to capture both quality and frequency of teaching practices as measured by each element.⁷ This preliminary tool was piloted in person in Pakistan and Uruguay and using classroom video footage in Afghanistan, China, Pakistan, the Philippines, Tanzania, Uruguay, and Vietnam. From these pilots, it became apparent that observers struggled to code reliably when they had to simultaneously capture the frequency and quality of teaching practices for each element. In response, the development team revised the structure of the tool to address this challenge as well as other errors and logical inconsistencies. This process resulted in a tool that comprised 10 elements.

Then, the development team convened a technical advisory panel, including Lindsay Brown, Pam Grossman, Heather Hill, Andrew Ragatz, Sara Rimm-Kaufman, Erica Woolway, and Nick Yoder, to provide written feedback on the tool. These comments were compiled and addressed as part of a 1-day technical workshop. During the workshop, the experts advised the team on which issues to prioritize and how to incorporate the comments to further improve the tool. This updated version of the tool was applied in 4 settings, where observers were given a certification exam that ensured they could reliably code using Teach. In Mozambique, 74% of the observers passed the certification exam; in Pakistan and the Philippines, 96% passed; and in Uruguay, 100% passed. The observers also provided comments on the tool and training that was considered during the revision process.

The development team worked closely with Andrew Ho to analyze psychometric properties of the tool. Based on this analysis and feedback from the trainers and observers, the development team revised each element's structure and complementary examples to improve the tool's consistency and clarity. As part of this process, the Time on Learning element was modified to capture teachers' time on instruction and students' time on task through a series of snapshots. This process resulted in a tool that comprised 1 low-inference and 9 high-inference elements. The final stage involved testing these revisions using the Teach Primary global video library. The tool was released to the public in 2019.

Since its release to the public and as of December 2021, Teach Primary has been applied in 35 countries. Teach Primary has been implemented by the World Bank and by external organizations, including J-PAL, IDinsight, IRC, Save the Children, and Education World Trust, as well as individual schools. Through these different implementations, the Teach Primary team has gained insights about the tool's use in the field and has adjusted and made revisions to the tool and its complementary materials in order to better support implementations in the field. The Teach Primary team has also conducted additional analyses and studies to verify the psychometric properties of the tool (Luna-Bazaldua, Molina, and Pushparatnam 2021).

In 2020 and 2021, Teach Primary underwent a revision process to strengthen the way the tool measured inclusive teaching practices. Inclusive teaching practices are defined as those that create increased opportunities for all students to access learning. The revised version of the tool (Second Edition) reflects some important adjustments from the original version. A group of experts in inclusive education provided extensive feedback on the proposed revisions to the tool, and these comments were incorporated into a revised version of the tool. The Second Edition Teach Primary tool was piloted with a set of videos a global video library. In addition, the tool was also piloted in Rwanda. These codes were compared to assess that the revised tool was better capturing inclusive teaching practices. The revised Second Edition of the Teach Primary Observer Manual and Tool was published in 2021.

⁷ For example, the tool aimed to capture not just the quality with which a teacher checked for understanding (adjusting the lesson, prompting students to determine their level of understanding, etc.), but the frequency with which the teacher checked for understanding in each lesson.

Results of the BiH Teach Primary Observation Study

Teach Primary Results: Insights into Teaching Practices

TEACH PRIMARY RESULTS

Results indicate that observed teachers⁸ have strong ability in classroom culture (81% of teachers scored between a 4-5) but are seen to be less effective at fostering socioemotional skills (43% of teachers scored between 1-2). (Figure 2). The most common practices are creating a supportive environment, lesson facilitation and setting positive behavioral expectations whereas the least common practices are fostering social and collaborative skills, building perseverance and providing feedback (Figure 5). In Teach Primary findings in other countries (Molina et al., 2018) found that teachers effectiveness in building Classroom Culture is more prevalent whereas they are less effective in Instruction and fostering Socio-emotional Skills.

	Percentage of observed teachers who are effective in each area						
Teaching Practices	Lov (In this cla the teache fective in this eler	v issroom, er is inef- building ment)	Medium (In this class- room, the teach- er is somewhat effective in build- ing this element)	High (In this class- room, the teacher is highly effective in building this element)			
	1	2	3	4	5		
Classroom Culture							
1. Supportive learning environment	0 1		14	54	31		
2. Positive behavioral expectations	tations 1		19	55	23		
	Instruc	tion					
3. Lesson Facilitation	3. Lesson Facilitation 0 1						
4. Checks for understanding	2	6	31	27	34		
5. Feedback	14	19	33	15	19		
6. Critical Thinking 13		11	41	21	13		
Socioemotional Skills							
7. Autonomy	5	14	49	21	12		
8. Perseverance	7	36	35	13	9		
9. Socioemotional skills	55	13	12	11	10		

Figure 2: Distribution of TEACH Primary scores from 1 to 5 (Percentages)

⁸ For this report it is important to note that when the report cites BiH, the authors are referring to data collected from Zenica-Doboj, West Herzegovina, Sarajevo, Tuzla and Una-Sana cantons.



Figure 3: Distribution of Average Teach Primary Scores by Area and Overall

Source: Authors' analysis of classroom observation data, 2022.

Out of the three snapshots, observed teachers in BiH provided a learning activity on average 93% of the time. Moreover, when teachers provide a learning activity, all students are on task in 76% of the total classrooms observed. **(Figure 4)**.



Figure 4: Distribution of Time on Task variables





Source: Teach Primary BiH Database, 2022.

With respect to classroom culture, observed teachers in the five selected cantons of BiH are highly skilled at creating a supportive learning environment, less so at setting positive behavioral expectations, scoring around the medium range in this area. With respect to lesson instruction, the results indicate practices to be the most prominent (average score of more than 4 out of 5), but practices related to checks for understanding, feedback and opportunities to build critical thinking among students are less common. With respect to socio emotional skills, BiH teachers are moderately skilled at fostering autonomy for students, though less likely to promote perseverance and demonstrate social-collaborative skills (Figure 5). The next section characterizes teaching practices in the five selected cantons of BiH for each area



Figure 5: Distribution of Average Teach Primary Scores by Element

Source: Teach Primary BiH Database, 2022.

Area 1: Classroom Culture Results

Classroom Culture measures the extent to which the teacher creates a culture that is conductive to learning. The focus here is not on the teacher correcting students' negative behaviors but rather the extent to which the teacher creates: (i) a **supportive learning environment** by treating all students respectfully, consistently using positive language, responding to students' needs, and both challenging gender and disability stereotypes and not exhibiting gender and disability bias in the classroom; and (ii) **positive behavioral expectations** by setting clear behavioral expectations, acknowledging positive student behavior, and effectively redirecting misbehavior.

Overall, teachers in BiH⁹ demonstrated high level practices in Classroom Culture. On average, they score 4 points on a 5-point scale in this element with 81% of teachers scoring between 4-5 in creating a supportive learning environment and 78% of teachers scoring between 4-5 in setting positive behavioral expectations (Figure 2)

Supportive Learning Environment. On average, teachers score 4 points out of the 5 points possible in this element (Figure 5). Figure 6 shows the distribution of scores for supportive learning environment and its respective behaviors. Teachers generally treat their students with respect with 92% of teachers scoring a high. Most teachers use at least some positive language (95% use some or consistently uses positive language). This includes examples where teachers praised students for each completed activity using words such as "well done", "excellent", "super", "very good", "you did a great job", "you understood the lesson very well" 5 or more times. They also asked that the students be rewarded with applause for good work.

In 54% of the observations, a need was observed and 76% of those teachers responded to student needs when they emerged.¹⁰ Observers highlighted many great examples of teachers responding to student needs. These included addressing material, physical and emotional needs of a student. For example, in one classroom a student was seen to be emotionally upset over not being able to complete a task. The teacher was seen addressing the student, providing her with emotional support, asking her peers to help her with her task (thus, also encouraging students' interpersonal skills) and moving the student to the front of the classroom to help her solve her task.

Finally, when it came to addressing gender stereotypes or addressing bias against students with disabilities, around 3% of teachers exhibited bias or reinforced stereotypes in some way. For example, when it came to gender stereotypes, a teacher was seen emphasizing the role of women as mothers and housewives and "women's occupations" were roles that revolved around taking care of others eg: a teacher. On the other hand, the teacher presented occupations, such as policeman, as being more suitable for boys. As another example, when it came to disability bias, in one class a teacher implied that students with disabilities have less capacity or potential to perform certain tasks.

It is important to note that while the vast majority of teachers do not explicitly show bias, the study shows that these teachers do not necessarily challenge the status quo related to biases either. Most teachers do not challenge gender or disability stereotypes (91% for gender and 93% for disability) with only 6% demonstrating practices which actively challene stereotypes. One reason behind this could be that teachers do not view such efforts to proactively challenge the status quo as being part of their responsibilities as teachers.

⁹ For this report it is important to note that when the report cites BiH, the authors are referring to data collected from Zenica-Doboj, West Herzegovina, Sarajevo, Tuzla and Una-Sana cantons.

¹⁰ The N/A is excluded from the calculation







- L: Exhibits bias or reinforces stereotypes
- M: Does not exhibit bias but doesn't challenge stereotypes
- H: Does not exhibit bias and challenges stereotypes



H: Does not exhibit bias and challenges stereotypes

Score	1	2	3	4	5		
Behavior quality range	Low	Мо	derate	н	igh		
1.1 The teacher treats all students respectfully	The teacher does not treat all stu- dents respectfully. For example: The teacher may yell at some students, scold them, shame/ ridicule them, or use physical pun- ishment to discipline them.	The teacher treat somewhat respe For example, the treat students dis s/he does not yel students), but the not show outwar toward students dents by their na or "thank you," or relevant signs of	The teacher treats all students somewhat respectfully. For example, the teacher does not treat students disrespectfully (e.g., s/he does not yell at or ridicule students), but the teacher does not show outward signs of respect toward students either (e.g., call stu- dents by their names, say "please" or "thank you," or other culturally		The teacher treats all students somewhat respectfully. For example, the teacher does not treat students disrespectfully (e.g., s/he does not yell at or ridicule students), but the teacher does not show outward signs of respect toward students either (e.g., call stu- dents by their names, say "please" or "thank you," or other culturally relevant signs of respect)		s all students teacher uses says "please" and lows some other t sign of respect.
1.2 The teacher uses positive language with students ²	The teacher does not use positive language in his/her communication with students.	The teacher uses some positive language in his/her communication with students. For example: The teacher may say "well done" or "good", although this happens infrequently.		The teacher consi tive language in h tion with student. For example: The tently uses encou such as "Great jol show their work t can do this!", or "Y talented group of	istently uses posi- iis/her communica- s. teacher consis- raging phrases b!" when students to him/her, or "You You are such a children."		
1.3 The teacher responds to students' needs ³	The teacher is not aware of stu- dents' needs OR does not address the problem at hand. For example: A student may not have the required supplies for the lesson, and the teacher does not notice or sees it and ignores it. Alternatively, a student may be upset because of a bad grade or a personal problem, and the teacher ignores the student or is dismissive of the issue (e.g., the teacher tells the student to "get over it" or "pull yourself together").	The teacher responds to students' needs but may not address the problem at hand. For example: A student may be upset because s/ he does not have a pencil, and the teacher asks another child to share his/her pencil, but s/ he refuses. The teacher carries on with the lesson without solving the problem.		The teacher prom to students' need specifically addre at hand. For example: If a s have a pencil, the the child to borro spare pencil box.	ptly responds s in a way that sses the problem student does not teacher allows w one from his/her		
1.4 The teacher does not exhibit bias and challenges stereotypes in the classroom ⁴	The teacher exhibits bias or reinforc- es stereotypes in the classroom.	The teacher does not exhibit bias but does not challenge stereotypes either.		The teacher does AND challenges s classroom.	not exhibit bias stereotypes in the		
1.4 a Gender	The teacher could show this by pro- viding students with unequal oppor- tunities to participate in classroom activities or by expressing unequal expectations for students' behaviors or capabilities. For example: A teacher seats girls exclusively at the back of the class- room or only calls on boys to answer difficult questions. Alternatively, the teacher calls equally on students of all genders to answer difficult questions, but only assigns girls to clean the blackboard or hand out learning materials (e.g., textbooks) to the class. Other examples of gender bias are teachers scolding boys but not girls after incorrectly answering a ques- tion or misbehaving. They may also give praise to girls but not boys after correctly answering a question.	The teacher provides students of all genders with equal opportunities to participate in the classroom and has similar expectations for all students. For example: The teacher calls equally on all genders to answer difficult questions and praises both boys and girls after correctly answering questions. The teacher asks boys and girls to clean the blackboard and distribute learning materials (e.g., textbooks) to the class.		The teacher provi genders with equ to participate in the similar expectation <u>AND</u> challenges of in the classroom. For example: The ly on all genders to questions and pra- girls after correctly tions. The teacher to clean the blackk learning materials to the class. In add uses examples and that portray femal scientists, doctors, and/or encourages students about ge and/or gender equ The teacher may a age equal particip ments such as: "Le the girls" or 'Now from a girl, let's he	des students of all al opportunities he classroom, has ns for all students, gender stereotypes teacher calls equal- o answer difficult ises both boys and v answering ques- asks boys and girls opard and distribute (e.g., textbooks) lition, the teacher d explanations e rather than male , and astronauts a discussions with nder stereotypes lality. also actively encour- ation through com- et's hear more from we have heard ar from a boy."		

Table 2: Examples of Supportive Learning Environment behavior scores

1.4 b Disability	The teacher may provide students with unequal opportunities to participate in learning activities, use stigmatizing terms, or express low expectations for student's behaviors or capabilities. For example: The teacher seats students with disabilities separately from other students. The teacher may use stigmatizing terms about people with disabilities, in general, or express bias towards students with disabilities in the classroom through low expectations for their behavior or capabilities.	The teacher provides students of all ability levels with equal opportuni- ties to participate in the classroom and has similar expectations for all students. For example: The teacher enables students with disabilities to work with other class members during group work, provides opportunities for students with disabilities to ask questions, and participate in whole class learning activities. Alternative- ly, the teacher praises students with disabilities in the same manner as other students in the classroom	The teacher provides students of all ability levels with equal opportuni- ties to participate in the classroom, has similar expectations for all students, <u>AND</u> challenges disability stereotypes in the classroom. For example: The teacher has students with disabilities work with others during group work AND uses examples and explanations that portray people with disabilities in important positions.			
 2 Only verbal communication is counted as positive language; nonverbal displays of positive language would not count toward this behavior 3 This behavior is scored N/A if there are no observable emotional, material or physical needs. 4 The chances to participate should be considered proportionally to the ratio of different genders in the classroom; this behavior is only applicable in mixed-gender classrooms 						
	Source: Teac	h Primary Observer Manual				

Positive Behavioral Expectations. On average, teachers score 3.98 points out of the 5-points possible in this element **Figure 5. Figure 7** shows the distribution of scores for the positive behavioral expectations' element and its respective behaviors. 81% of BiH teachers are highly skilled at setting clear behavioral expectations for their students. A few examples of how teachers in BiH do this includes using instructions such as "pay attention now", "listen carefully", "raise your hand if you want to say something." In addition, 77% of teachers are highly skilled at redirecting misbehavior. However, one of the least observed practices related to classroom culture and across all the observation metrics was acknowledging positive student behavior with only 20% of teachers using this effectively (such as, "Well done, you are being quiet and calm and have listened to my instructions"), and 44% of teachers never using this practice during the observation study.



Figure 7: Positive Behavioral Expectations

2.3. Redirects misbehavior





Score	1	2		3		4	5
Behavior quality range	Low			Moderate			High
2.1 The teacher sets clear behavioral expectations for classroom activities	The teacher does r havioral expectatio room tasks and/or For example: The t says, "Work on you comprehension sk providing instruction the expected beha activity.	not set be- ons for class- activities. reacher ur reading ills," without on on what vior is for the	The teacl superficia tions for activities. For exam a group a says, "Ple assigned without o behavior	cher sets unclear or ial behavioral expecta- r classroom tasks and/or s. mple: When introducing activity, the teacher Please sit in your pre- d groups and behave," clarifying what such r would entail.		The teacher sets clear behav ioral expectations throughou the lesson for classroom task and/or activities. For example: Upon introducin a group activity to the class, the teacher explicitly states the expected behavior for stu dents in the group. This may include, "Use a quiet indoor voice" or "Take turns speakin If students are working inde- pendently, the teacher gives directions on what to do whe they complete the activity. The teacher says, "Please quietly get up, bring your worksheet me, and read while you wait your classmates to finish." Alternatively, the teacher is r observed setting clear behav ioral expectations, but stude are well-behaved5 througho the lesson.	
2.2 The teacher acknowledges positive student behavior	The teacher does not acknowledge student behavior that meets or exceeds expectations. The teacher acknowledge student behavior that meets or exceeds expectations. The teacher says, "T working well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo well togeth group is doing a goo well togeth group is doing a goo without clarifying well togeth group is doing a goo well togeth g			ner acknowledge: dents' behavior, k fic about their ex ior. ple: If a group is t ehavioral expecta ter says, "This gro well together" or doing a good job, clarifying why or k	s put is pect- fol- tions, pup is "This " now.	The teacher a students' posi meets or exce For example: , to the class, "I that members taking turns to proactively we assignment."	cknowledges itive behavior that eeds expectations. A teacher says I just noticed s of Group A are o speak and are orking on the next
2.3 The teacher redirects misbehavior and focuses on the expected behavior, rather than the undesired behavior ⁵	Redirection of misl is ineffective and f misbehaviors, rath expected behavior For example: If s/h distracted student stops lecturing and the name of the st her, "Why are you attention in class?" Alternatively, the t tinues to ignore th who is distracted, tracted student be and argue with the next to her. This sh of the entire class the lesson and ont students.	irection of misbehavior effective and focuses on behaviors, rather than the ected behavior. example: If s/he notices a racted student, the teacher bs lecturing and calls out name of the student, asking "Why are you not paying ntion in class?" ernatively, the teacher con- es to ignore the student b is distracted, but the dis- ted student begins to tease argue with the peer sitting t to her. This shifts the focus he entire class away from lesson and onto those 2 dents.		Redirection of misbehavior is effective but focuses on mis- behaviors rather than the ex- pected behavior. Alternatively, redirection of misbehavior is somewhat effective and focus- es on the expected behavior. For example: Upon noticing that 3 students are not working on the assigned problems, the teacher says, "You 3 need to stop talking now, you are making too much noise." This statement fo- cuses on the disruptive students' negative behavior, rather than on what is expected of them. Consequently, the disruptive students quiet down. In another scenario, the teacher redirects the students by asking them to "Focus on the task at hand." Even though the teacher focuses on the positive behavior expect- ed from the students, for the most part, they continue to talk.		When a probl rection of mis tively address at hand and fe expected beh For example: talking loudly tive during a l says, "Remem voices," and th down. Alternatively, observed redi behavior, but well-behaved lesson.	em arises, redi- behavior effec- es the problem ocuses on the avior. If students are and being disrup- esson, the teacher nber to use quiet he students quiet the teacher is not recting students' the students are throughout the

Table 3: Examples of Positive Behavioral Expectations behavior scores

Source: Teach Primary: Observer Manual.

Classroom Culture: Heterogeneity Analysis

Figure 8 shows the average scores across the two elements that constitute Classroom Culture. This information is broken down into two subcategories: urban and rural schools. Teach results indicate that there is a statistically significant difference between urban and rural teachers in creating a supportive learning environment, whereas there is no statistically significant difference between teachers in urban vs. rural schools for setting positive behavioral expectations. (**Figure 8**). It should be noted that the study does not allow for statistical significance testing across grades in terms of Teach Primary scores, because there is not sufficient data in each grade represented in the study.

Classroom culture by urban/rural school 5,0 4,2 4.1 4.0 3.9 4.0 3.0 2,0 1.0 0,0 Supportive Learning Positive behavioral Environment expectations 🗖 Urban 📕 Rural

Figure 8: Classroom Culture – Heterogeneity Analysis

Source: Teach Primary BiH Database, 2022.

Area 2: Instruction Results

In the Teach tool, the second metric under Quality of Teaching Practices is Instruction. This area measures whether the teacher instructs in a manner that deepens student understanding and encourages critical thinking and analysis. The focus here is not on content-specific methods of instruction, but rather the extent to which the teacher: (i) **facilitates the lesson** to promote comprehension by explicitly articulating lesson objectives that are aligned to the learning activity, explains the content using multiple forms of representation, and connecting the learning activity to other content knowledge or students' experiences, and by modeling the learning activity through enacting or thinking aloud; (ii) does not simply move from one topic to the next but **checks for understanding** by using questions, prompts, or other strategies to determine students' level of understanding, by monitoring students during group and independent work, and by adjusting his/her teaching to the level of students; (iii) gives **feedback** by providing specific comments or prompts to help clarify students' misunderstandings or identify their successes; and (iv) encourages students to **think critically** by asking open-ended questions and providing students with thinking tasks that require them to actively analyze content. Students exhibit critical thinking ability by asking open-ended questions or performing thinking tasks.

Overall, teachers in the selected cantons of BiH are somewhat effective in Instruction. On average, they score 3.5 points out of the 5 points possible in this element. They were highly effective at lesson facilitation and somewhat effective at checking for understanding but were less effective in providing feedback and providing activities aimed at critical thinking skills in their classrooms (See Figure 5).



Lesson Facilitation. Overall, teachers in this study are mostly effective in lesson facilitation during their lesson. On average, teachers score 4.25 points out of the 5 points possible in this element, with 80% of teachers scoring above 4 in this area. However, about 20% of teachers score 3 or below in lesson facilitation which highlights the need for continued support and strengthening in this area. (Figure 2) Figure 9 shows the distribution of teachers' scores for the lesson facilitation element and the respective behaviors. A high share of teachers use lesson facilitation practices effectively during instruction – 80% of teachers state specific objectives for their classes, 77% of teachers use multiple forms of representation to explain lesson content. This included speech, text, various objects (e.g. figures of animals, examples of plants, geographical map, globe) and pictures placed on the board (e.g. pictures of food, deciduous and evergreen trees, domestic and wild animals, pictures of seasons). In some classes, especially language classes, students listened to music via the radio or YouTube videos to help with the lesson objective. In addition, 77% of teachers use modeling or think aloud strategies in their classrooms. Finally, around 77% of teachers at least superficially connect their lessons to their students' lives or other content knowledge.



Figure 9: Lesson Facilitation

77% 55% 23% 22% 15% 8% L: Does not connect L: Does not model M: Superficially or unclear connects M: Partially models H: Meaningfully connects H: Completely models 100% % Proportions of Teachers 75% 48% 50% 32% 19% 25% 1% 0% 0% 1 2 3 4 5 Distribution of Scores

Source: Teach Primary BiH Database, 2022.

Table 4: Examples of Lesson Facilitation behavior scores

Score	1	2	3	4	5		
Behavior quality range	Low	Moderate		Moderate		H	ligh
3.1 The teacher explicitly articulates the objectives of the lesson and relates classroom activities to the objectives	The teacher does not state the lesson objective(s), nor can one be inferred from the lesson activities. For example: The teacher asks students to take turns reading a text about plant- ing and harvesting crops. S/ he then spends the rest of the lesson discussing farm- ing and the specific pro- cesses involved. The teacher does not state a lesson objective, and it is difficult to infer a lesson objective from the activities as the objective could be developing oral reading fluency, develop- ing vocabulary, or learning about agriculture.	The teacher ei itly states a br objective <u>OR</u> t not explicitly s be inferred fro activities. For example: T says, "Today v learn about m without furthe Alternatively, f activities may toward how to numbers, but explicitly artici- teacher.	ither explic- oad lesson the objective is stated, but can om the lesson The teacher we're going to ultiplication," er specification. the lesson clearly work o divide whole this is not ulated by the	The teacher of specific lesso learning goal activities alig objective. For example: ginning of cla states, "Toda learn to multi Each lesson a related to the multiplying fr	explicitly states a in objective (i.e. a) and the lesson in to the stated Near the be- ass the teacher y we're going to iply fractions." activity is clearly e objective of fractions.		

3.3. Connects lesson

3.4. Models by enacting or thinking aloud

The teacher explains

content using one form of

representation OR content

is simply not explained.

states, "A fraction is a

ator and denominator,'

without providing any

written or other visu-

al representation of a

segment.

content.

fraction during the lesson

Alternatively, the teach-

er may not provide any

explanation of content,

uses too many technical

terms without explaining

what s/he means, and/or

may explain ideas without

tion. Moreover, the teacher

a logical order or connec-

may say, "A fraction is a combination of a numerator and denominator," without defining those terms. Alternatively, the teacher may not provide any explanation of

The teacher does not

connect what is being

taught to other content

knowledge or students'

daily lives. The teacher

may use examples that

may be related to other

content or students' lives,

but the teacher does not

attempt to connect it to

the learning activity.

For example: During a

lesson on fractions the

teacher uses a picture

into fourths, but does

slicing cake.

of a cake and divides it

not make a connection to

students' experience with

Alternatively, the teacher

terday we learned about

we are going to learn how

whole numbers? Today,

to add fractions."

says, "Remember, yes-

For example: The teacher

combination of a numer-

tation.

3.2

3.3

daily lives

The teacher makes

connections in the lesson

knowledge or students'

that relate to other content

The teacher explains

content using multiple

forms of representation

er states, "A fraction is a combination of a numerator and denominator," and writes and denominator," and writes an example of a fraction on the example of ¼ on the the board. In a language arts board. Later in the lesson, the teacher uses a visual aide as that a verb is an action word part of his/her explanation and writes a sentence which of content by folding a piece of paper into quarters and coloring in one square. In a language arts lesson, the teacher states that a verb is an action word and writes a sentence which contains a verb which is underlined on the board. The teacher then mimes a series of actions and asks students to identify these examples of verbs.

The teacher may attempt to connect the lesson to other content knowledge or students' daily lives, but the connections are superficial. confusing, or unclear.

lesson, the teacher states

contains a verb which is

underlined on the board.

For example: When introducing a lesson on fractions, the teacher says, "When we cut a cake, we use fractions" and go on to explain fractions. The connection to students' lives is superficial and nonspecific. Alternatively, the teacher says, "Remember yesterday we learned the rules for adding whole numbers? Now we are going to use those rules and apply them to adding fractions." However, when explaining how to add fractions, the teacher does not link the rules back to the rules for adding whole numbers.

The teacher meaningfully connects the lesson to other content knowledge or students' daily lives.

For example: When teaching a class on fractions, the teacher relates the content to students' experiences by asking, "Who has had to slice a birthday cake? How did you make sure there were enough slices for everyone? Learning about fractions can help us divide a cake between people." The teacher also connects the lesson to a prior lesson on halves by saying, "Remember yesterday when we learned about halves? We learned that when we cut a cake in half, we can share it equally between 2 people. Today we will learn how to divide the cake into fourths, so 4 people can share the cake. When we were forming halves we made sure we had 2 halves of identical size. The same thing is true when we are forming fourths: we have to make sure to keep slices of the same size." The connection between the current lesson and other content knowledge and/or students' daily lives is clear.

3.4 The teacher models by enacting or thinking aloud ⁶	The teacher does not model. For example: The teacher spends the entire class reading a passage and asking students questions about the text but does not present any proce- dure. In a math class, the teacher simply gives students problems to complete on their own and does not demonstrate a procedure to solve the problems.	The teacher partially models the learning activity. For example: In an English class where the objective of the activity is to write a paragraph, the teacher only demonstrates how to write a topic sentence. In a math class, the teacher shows (enacts) how to draw a bar graph, but does not clarify how s/he extracted the data from the text to create the bar graph.	The teacher completely models the learning activity by enacting all parts of the procedure <u>OR</u> by enacting the procedure <u>AND</u> thinking aloud. For example: The teacher demonstrates different ways to solve a math problem (enactment of a procedure) and while doing so, s/he says what s/he is thinking at each step of the equation (think aloud). Or if students are calculating the area of their desk, the teacher demon- strates each step in the process (full enactment of a procedure) through the use of pictures, and/or physical ob- jects, or other materials that might be locally available. While doing so, the teacher says what s/he is thinking at each step of the process.				
6 Modeling can take place at any time in the lesson (including at the end). If the learning activity is procedural in nature, modeling will include an enactment of the procedure for children to observe; however, if the activity focuses on developing a thinking skill, a complete model will include a think aloud. An action is considered modeling so long as the teacher demonstrates/enacts procedures or thinking processes related to the learning activity.							
	Courses Toosh Duin	nam n Ohaam van Manual					

Source: Teach Primary: Observer Manual.

Check for Understanding. Overall, teachers in this study are mostly effective in using checks for understanding during their lesson instruction. On average, teachers score 3.85 points out of the 5 points possible in this element **(Figure 5). Figure 10** shows the distribution of teacher's scores for the checks for understanding element and its respective behaviors. Teachers in the selected cantons of BiH displayed moderate level of practices in checking for understanding. 65% of teachers are seen to be asking questions, using prompts or worksheets to get information on student understanding.

However 68%¹¹ were observed to be monitoring their students which includes teacher actions such as walking over to the students desks, asking questions, clarifying student answers etc. About 75% of teachers make some form of adjustments during their lessons based on student understanding. This could include additional explanations, reteaching a concept, or brief prompts during the lesson.

^{11 51%} of 75% taking into consideration the N/A category.



Figure 10: Checks for Understanding







Source: Teach Primary BiH Database, 2022.

JUIE	L		2	3	4	5
Behavior quality range	Low		Мо	derate	ŀ	High
4.1 The teacher uses questions, prompts, or other strategies to determine students' level of understanding	The teacher either does not ask questions/prompt students at all <u>OR</u> when s/he does, the class responds in synchrony, which is accepted without further clarify- ing for understanding. For example: When explaining a concept, the teacher asks, "Have you all understood?" The students in the class respond in unison, "Yes, we have." Anoth- er example is that the teacher inquires, "This is correct, right?" after completing a problem set. The class or an individual student replies, "Yes, this is correct." The teacher uses questions, prompts, or other strategies that are effective at determin- ing only a few students' level of understanding. For example: The teacher asks, "What is 7+8?" Only a few students respond by raising their hand, a group from which the teacher calls upon 1 or 2 students to provide an answer. Alternatively, the teacher asks in response and simply allows students to willingly volunteer their answers.			ses questions, ther strategies students' level of g. The teacher says, ur thumb up if you if you disagree ment: Equilateral equal angles." The sks students to heir knowledge by ents share their by asking each d out the sentence ng past tense		
4.2 The teacher monitors most students during independent/group work ⁷	The teacher does not mor students when they are w ing independently or in gr For example: The teacher si his/ her desk or remains sta in front of the class when st dents are working.	nitor vork- oups. its at nding tu-	The teacher monitors some students when they are work- ing independently or in groups to check their understanding. For example: The teacher ob- serves some student work for accuracy, clarifies concepts, or asks questions.		The teacher si monitors mos circulating the approaching i dents or group understanding For example: V are working, th around the clas sure to approa groups in a sys teacher observ work, clarifies of questions.	ystematically t students by e classroom and ndividual stu- ps to check their g. When students he teacher walks ssroom, making ch students or stematic way. The res most students' concepts, and asks
4.3 The teacher adjusts teaching to the level of students	The teacher does not adjute aching for students. ⁸ For example: The teacher motice that many students a getting the wrong answer be does not re-explain the conor provide additional opporties to learn.	ist nay are but cept tuni-	The teacher slightly adjusts teaching, but this adjustment is brief and superficial. For example: As students com- plete an alphabet worksheet, the teacher notices they are not dotting their 'i's. In response, s/he briefly reminds the class to dot their 'i's. Or, when solving the multipli- cation problem 7 x 3, a student confuses the process with addition and answers '10' on their worksheet. In response, s/ he reminds the student that they are doing multiplication and not addition equations.		The teacher su teaching for st students have the teacher ma forth exchange understand all understanding students with ties to learn. Th also provide m tasks for those an advanced u For example: A plete an alphat the teacher noi dotting their 'i's he briefly stops reviews the dif capital and low continuing with activity. Alterna teacher notices has already con sheet, s/he ma another activity while waiting f class.	bstantially adjusts udents. When misconceptions, ay initiate back and es to help them points of mis- , which provides more opportuni- ne teacher may ore challenging who already have nderstanding. As students com- bet worksheet, tices they are not s. In response, s/ s the activity and ferences between ver case 'i's before h the alphabet atively, if the s that a student mpleted the work- y give that student y to complete for the rest of the

Table 5: Examples of Checks for Understanding behavior scores

loes not adjust teaching, this bel le teachei

Feedback. Overall, teachers in this study are somewhat effective in providing feedback to students during their lesson instruction. On average, teachers score 3.06 points out of the 5 points possible in this element **(Figure 5). Figure 11** shows the distribution of teacher's scores for the feedback element and its respective behaviors. Only around 44% of teachers provide students with specific and substantative comments to address misunderstandings, leaving 56% of teachers providing superficial or no comments at all to aid students. An example of superficial comments is when in an English class, a student makes a mistake when asked to provide an example of regular and irregular verbs. The student responds saying that the verb Play is irregular. The teacher tells the student that the answer is incorrect and that "play" is a regular verb. However, the teacher does not further explain the difference between regular and irregular verbs. Similarly, 79% of teachers provide only superficial¹² or in some cases no comments at all to aid students with identifying successes.

Figure 11: Feedback



Source: Teach Primary BiH Database, 2022.

¹² An example of this is when a student is assigned to write a story based on a given set of pictures, and the teacher responds saying "the story looks wonderful, keep it up." This type of comment is superficial in nature because it does not provide the student with an understanding of what she has done specifically to meet or exceed expectations.

Score	1	2	3	4	5	
Behavior quality range	Low	Мос	derate	ŀ	ligh	
5.1 The teacher provides specific comments or prompts that help clarify students' misunderstandings	The teacher either does not provide students with comments/prompts about their misunderstandings <u>OR</u> the comments provid- ed are simple, evaluative statements (e.g., "That is incorrect"). For example: When a student answers a teach- er's question incorrectly, the teacher responds by saying, "That is not the correct answer," and moves on.	The teacher provides students with general or superficial comments/ prompts about their mis- understandings. For example: In a math class, the teacher says, "You forgot to include the negative sign," without providing further informa- tion or prompts.		eacher provides nts with general or ficial comments/ ots about their mis- standings. kample: In a math the teacher says, forgot to include the ive sign," without ding further informa- r prompts. The teacher provides students with specific comments/prompts the contain substantive int mation that helps clari students' misundersta ings. For example, the teach says, "Do you rememb what happens when v multiply a positive and negative number? Let' look at your notes. Nov let's look at your answ What do you need to change to find the corn answer?"		
5.2 The teacher provides specific comments or prompts that help identify students' successes	The teacher either does not provide students with comments/ prompts about their successes <u>OR</u> the comments provided are simple, evaluative statements (e.g., "That is correct"). For example: When a student answers a teach- er's question incorrectly, the teacher responds by saying, "That is correct," and moves on.	The teacher provides students with general or superficial comments/ prompts about their suc- cesses. For example: If students are writing stories as part of an assignment, the teacher says, "Good job on the third paragraph," without specifying what that particular student did that made it good.		The teacher students w comments/ contain sub mation that students' su For example are writing teacher say a good job reader inter paragraph write 'no or would happ tence make read more." the teacher student's w to the class work of this see how s/ number line subtraction and then pr explain how solved it.	r provides ith specific prompts that istantive infor- : helps identify uccesses. e: If students stories, the rs, "You do getting the rested in this when you he knew what pen.' This sen- es me want to ' Alternatively, ' highlights one york and say t, "Look at the s classmate, he used the e to solve this problem?," roceed to v the student	

Table 6: Examples of Feedback behavior scores

Source: Teach Primary: Observer Manual.

Critical Thinking. On average, teachers score 3.1 points out of the 5 points possible in this element **(Figure 5). Figure 12** shows the distribution of teacher's scores for the critical thinking element and its respective behaviors. The distribution of scores shows that only about one-third (34%) of teachers in the study are highly effective at promoting critical thinking during their instruction with a score of 4 or 5.

While teachers sometimes ask two or more thinking or open-ended questions (22%), they do not build upon student responses nor ask three or more questions as often (33%). Teachers provide superficial thinking tasks (46%), like comparing and contrasting content. An example of this was when a teacher assigned simple thinking tasks, e.g. students are asked to identify the characteristics of deciduous and coniferous forests, to state what is living and what is non-living nature, to state the characteristics of different seasons. 46% of teachers were engaging students with superficial thinking tasks such as the stated example rather than tasks that require students to analyze content at a higher level (31%). This trend is reflected in students as well, as half of students neither do not ask thinking task questions (47%) and 26% do not ask open ended questions or perform thinking tasks.



Figure 12: Critical Thinking

Source: Teach Primary BiH Database, 2022.

Score	1	2	3	4	5	
Behavior quality range	Low	Мо	derate	Hig	jh	
6.1 The teacher asks open- ended questions that require reasoning, explanation, or generalization or have more than 1 correct answer	The teacher does not ask open-ended questions <u>OR</u> asks only 1 open-ended question. The teacher may ask closed-ended questions that have a predetermined answer. For example: The teacher asks, "Who is the main character in this story?" or "Which is greater, -2 or -6?"	The teacher a least 2 open- tions but doe student respo teacher asks questions an is a follow-up response. For example: asks, "Why v ter unhappy? you think tha is -2 greater then asks, "H the number h if -8 or -4 is g	asks students at ended ques- es not build on onses, <u>OR</u> the 2 open-ended d 1 of them o to a student The teacher vas the charac- ? What makes t?" OR "Why than -6?" And low do you use ine to determine greater?"	The teacher asks students 3 or more open-ended ques- tions <u>AND</u> at least 1 of them builds upon student re- sponses by asking students to justify their reasoning, further explain, or clarify their ideas. For example: The teacher asks, "How do you think the main characters in the story would prepare for the competition?" After a stu- dent responds, the teacher then follows up by asking, "What facts or ideas make you think that?" Then s/he asks another student, "What do you think happens next?" In a math class, the teacher asks, "How do you know -2 is greater than -6?" After the student responds, the teacher follows up by asking, "What would happen if the numbers were positive?" Later in the lesson, the teacher asks, "How do you use the number line to deter-		
6.2 The teacher provides thinking tasks that require students to actively analyze content, as opposed to simply receiving information or building fluency (i.e., rote learning)	The teacher does not provide thinking tasks. Classrooms with no thinking tasks include those where students simply listen to the teacher or perform rote tasks.	not sks. ficial thinking tasks. Superfi- cial thinking tasks. Superfi- cial thinking tasks are tasks such as matching sets of items, identifying concepts orm rote or key pieces of information, and comparing and con- trasting characteristics. They also include applying learned information or techniques to tasks similar to those the teacher has already demon-		The teacher provides substantial thinking tasks Substantial thinking tasks are tasks such as making predictions, identifying patterns, explaining think making connections, and terpreting information. The also include applying lear information or techniques new tasks the teacher had not demonstrated.		
6.3 The students ask open- ended questions or perform thinking tasks	Students do not ask open-ended questions nor do they perform thinking tasks.	Students do open-ended however, the superficial th	not ask questions; y do perform inking tasks.	Students ask op questions. For example, af on subtraction p student asks, "\ 9 equal a negat Alternatively, th substantial thin	ben-ended ter working problems, a Why does 6 – tive number?" hey perform king tasks.	
	Source: Teach Prime	ary: Observe	er Manual.			

Table 7: Examples of Critical Thinking behavior scores

Instruction: Heterogeneity Analysis

Figure 13 shows the average scores across the four elements that constitute Instruction. This information is broken down into two subcategories: urban/rural. For lesson facilitation, there is a statistically significant difference between practices of urban and rural teachers, with rural teachers demonstrating slightly higher-level practices on average. The opposite is the case with Feedback, where urban teachers demonstrate higher level practices.







Area 3: Socioemotional Skills Results

Socioemotional Skills measures whether the teacher fosters the social and emotional skills that encourage students to succeed both inside and outside the classroom. To develop these skills, the teacher (i) instills **autonomy** by providing students with opportunities to make choices and take on meaningful roles in the classroom. Students exhibit their autonomy by volunteering to participate in classroom activities; (ii) promotes **perseverance** by acknowledging students' efforts, rather than focusing solely on their intelligence or natural abilities, by having a positive attitude toward students' challenges by framing failure and frustrations as part of the learning process, and by encouraging students to set short- and long-term goals; and (iii) fosters **social and collaborative skills** by encouraging collaboration through peer interaction and by promoting interpersonal skills, such as perspective taking, empathizing, emotion regulation, and social problem solving. Students exhibit social and collaborative skills by collaborating with one another through peer interaction.

Overall, teachers in the selected cantons of BiH do not commonly use practices that promote students' socioemotional Skills. On average, they score 2.7 points out of the 5 points possible in this element (Figure 5). Within this area, practices for promoting student autonomy are more common as about 33% of teachers are highly effective in fostering autonomy (scoring 4 or 5) (Figure 2). However, only about 20% of teachers are highly effective in fostering perseverance and social and collaborative skills (Figure 2).

Autonomy. On average, teachers score 3.2 points out of the 5-points possible in this element (Figure 5). Figure 14 shows the distribution of teacher's scores for the autonomy element and its re-

spective behaviors. Student autonomy mostly reflects in a high share of classes (66%) where most students volunteered to participate and another 25% where at least a few students volunteered. However, 60% of students were not provided with choices and 58% of students were provided limited or in some cases not provided any opportunity to take on a role in the classroom.

One example of when the teacher did provide substantive choice was during an English class while the class was discussing a play, the students could choose which of the several offered plays they would act out, after which they analyzed the point of that play. For providing students with responsibilites and roles, one way in which a teacher performed this behavior well was when the teacher provided students the opportunity to take on important roles in the class, for example students could read a passage from the textbook for the larger class, students did math problems on the board and explained their understanding to their peers, students present their work in front of the board about how they take care of body hygiene or hygiene of the living space.



Figure 14: Autonomy

Source: Teach Primary BiH Database, 2022.

Score	1		2 3		4	5	
Behavior quality range	Low		М	oderate		High	
7.1 The teacher provides students with choices	explicitly provide students with choices. The teach- er decides how learning activities should be com- pleted, without providing different options for how students can approach the task. For example: Students are asked to complete a set of math problems following a prescribed set of steps. Alternatively, the teacher tells students to write sentences without providing intentional choices.		The teacher explicitly provides students with at least 1 superficial choice that is not related to the learning objective. For example: The teacher allows students to choose between different col- ored pencils to complete an assignment, decide where to sit in the class- room when completing a task, choose the order in which to complete the ac- tivities, or vote on which student presentation was the best.		The teacher explicitly provides students with at least 1 substantive choice that is related to the learning objective. For example: The teacher allows students to choose between writing an essay or doing a presentation about their favorite sport. In a science class, the teacher lets students choose an animal to in- vestigate.		
7.2 The teacher provides students with opportunities to take on roles in the classroom	The teacher does no provide students wir opportunities to take roles in the classrood For example: The less is primarily lecture-k and highly structure subsequently, stude participation is limite to copying down inf mation. In this less students never get t chance to come to th board or read a text.	ot th e on m. sson pased d; nts' ed for- n, he he	The teach dents with to take on the classro For examp take atten tasks, pas or write on Limited ro housekeep as fetching the board, classroom	er provides stu- n opportunities limited roles in bom. ble: Students dance, assign s out materials, n the board. les also include bing tasks such g water, wiping or cleaning the b.	The teacher students v ties to take roles in the which they ble for par activity. For examp er gives a opportunit equation of and explai how s/he t main chall problem.	er provides vith opportuni- e on meaningful e classroom, in y are responsi- ts of a learning ole: The teach- student the ty to solve an on the board in to the class tackled the enges of the	
7.3 The students volunteer to participate in the classroom	Students do not volun- teer to participate in the classroom.		Only a few students volunteer to participate by expressing their ideas and taking on roles. For example: When the teacher asks a question, only a few students put their hand up to answer; later when the teacher asks another question, the same few students put their hand up.		Only a few students volunteer to participate by expressing their ideas and taking on roles. For example: When the teacher asks a question, only a few students put their hand up to answer; later when the teacher asks another question, the same few students put their hand up. Hand up to share swers. The student student offers to related experien the teacher is ex concept).		ents volunteer ate by express- leas and taking ole: When the ks a question, lents put their o share their an- e students could teer without er asking (e.g., a fers to share a perience when er is explaining a

Table 8: Examples of Autonomy behavior scores

Perseverance. On average, teachers score 2.8 points out of the 5-points possible in this element **(Figure 5). Figure 15** shows the distribution of teachers' scores for the perseverance element and its respective behaviors. 41% of teachers do not acknowledge student efforts and when 32% do, most praise is focused on outcomes or student intelligence. 69% of observed teachers generally have a neutral attitude toward student challenges and only 19% explicitly display a positive attitude towards challenges. Finally, only 25% of observed teachers are seen encouraging students to set short or long term goals and only 15% do both.

For acknowledging student efforts, while a majority of teachers are lacking this specific skill. An example of when a teacher did exhibit this behavior is when a group of students had a task to complete which included writing the characteristics of the characters from the passage they were reading. The teacher repeatedly emphasizes how the students made an excellent effort to complete and present the task and identified individual student actions that led them to complete the task well.

An example of when a teacher had a positive attitude to a challenge is seen when one student cried in a math class because she didn't know how to do the assignment. The teacher told her that it was important not to give up right away, to read the assignment again and try again. The teacher says: "It doesn't matter that you didn't do the assignment now." There is no person in this world who knows everything and manages to achieve all goals on the first try. It is important that you work continuously and you will see how you will succeed."













Score	1		2	3	4	5
Behavior quality range	Low		M	loderate		High
8.1 The teacher acknowledges students' efforts rather than focusing only on results, intelligence, or natural abilities	The teacher does n acknowledge stude efforts. Although th teacher may praise dents for "being sm "intelligent," the tea does not focus on s dents' efforts or wo For example: The te says, "Very good! Y the smartest studen the class" or "Well of You're so smart!"	ot ent stu- nart" or acher etu- ork. eacher ou're nt in done!	In this cla teacher so acknowle efforts, bu focused o student ir For examp student d test, the t know you hard work most time er praises saying the "intelliger	ssroom, the ometimes dges student ut most praise is n outcomes or ntelligence. ple: When a oes well on a eacher says, "I put so much c into this!," but es, the teach- students by ey are "smart" or nt."	In this class teacher free knowledge efforts tow new skills and identif forts explie For examp students s cult proble been strug the teache highlights they made problem. T says, "You gressed so multiplicat sets! I'm g me for hel practicing strategies class, you'	ssroom, the equently ac- es students' vard mastering or concepts, fies these ef- citly. ble: When solve a diffi- em they had ggling with, er praises and the efforts to solve the The teacher have pro- o much on our tion problem lad you asked p. If you keep and using the we learned in Il master them

Table 9: Examples of Perseverance behavior scores

8.2 The teacher has a positive attitude towards students' challenges ¹⁰	The teacher has a neg- ative attitude toward students' challenges. For example: The teacher explicitly scolds students for making mistakes or becomes impatient with a student for taking time to understand a new concept.	The teacher has a neutral attitude toward students' challenges. Although the teacher does not penalize a student for making mis- takes or struggling with a new concept, the teacher does not make it clear that failure and frustration are normal parts of the learning process either. For example: When a stu- dent is struggling to solve a math problem on the board, the teacher simply gives the student the an- swer in a neutral manner (i.e., not in an angry or impatient manner).	The teacher has a positive attitude toward students' challenges, and helps students understand that failure and frustration are normal parts of the learn- ing process. For example: When a student is struggling with a problem set, the teacher says, "Remember, it's okay to feel frustrat- ed when we're trying to do something new! Let's think about how we can go about this." The teacher also encourages students to think through different resources they could turn to for help (e.g., asking a friend for advice, looking for answers in the textbook).
8.3 The teacher encourages goal setting	The teacher does not encourage students to set short- or long-term goals. ¹¹	The teacher encourages students to set either short- OR long-term goals. ¹¹ For example: For short- term goal setting, the teacher says, "How many pages of the book will you read each day this week?" For long-term goal setting, the teacher says, "I want you to write down how much progress you've made on the goals we set at the beginning of the school year." Alternatively, the teacher may talk about the impor- tance of setting goals in a general way. For example: The teach- er says, "It's important to think about what you want to be when you grow up." In addition, the teacher highlights how characters in a story set a short- or long- term goal for themselves and how they worked toward it.	The teacher encourages students to set short- AND long-term goals. ¹¹ The teacher may ref- erence both long- and short-term goals at the same time, particular- ly when encouraging students to set a short- term goal that would help them achieve a long-term goal. For example: The teacher says, "Let's think about the goals we set for our- selves at the beginning of the school year. What is one thing you will do this week that will get you closer to that goal?" Alternatively, the teacher talks about the short- and long-term goals separate- ly (as in the examples for "Medium").

These challenges may include making mistakes, scoring low on a test, or feeling frustrated when trying to understand a concept. Short-term goals are goals that students aim to achieve within a month or less, and long-term goals are goals that span a longer timeframe (e.g., or the school year, when they grow up).

Source: Teach Primary: Observer Manual.

Social & Collaborative Skills. On average, they score 2.1 points out of the 5-points possible in this element (**Figure 5**). **Figure 16** shows the distribution of teacher's scores for the social and collaborative skills element and its respective behaviors. Overall, teachers are relatively less effective at promoting social and collaborative skills while teaching. 67% of teachers do not offer opportunities for student collaboration, and 66% do not promote student interpersonal skills. Consequently, students are infrequently observed collaborating with each other in some manner (in only 34% of observations). When collaboration was highlighted, actions were superficial. For examples, students shared materials with each other but they completed their learning tasks independently.

Although in general the teachers observed for this study did not exhibit actions related to promotion of social and collaborative skills in their classrooms, there are still good examples in which teachers were observed to promote such skills. For example, to build student interpersonal skills, a teacher in a mother tongue class says "Tongue has no bones, but it breaks bones." He asks the students to interpret this. After the student says that we can hurt others a lot with words, the teacher asks if they have ever offended someone. Students then gave examples from everyday life, followed by the teacher asking what they think about how the other person felt about it.





Figure 16: Social & Collaborative Skills

Source: Teach Primary BiH Database, 2022.

Score	1		2	3	4	5
Behavior quality range	Low		М	oderate	ŀ	ligh
9.1 The teacher promotes students' collaboration through peer interaction	The teacher does not pro- mote collaboration among students. For example: The teach- er does not provide any opportunities to work in groups or pairs.		The teacher promotes superficial student collab- oration through sharing opinions, materials, or ideas. For example: The teach- er asks students to read their neighbor's work or share crayons with each other.		The teacher promotes substantial student collaboration by asking them to work together to produce a product, solve a problem, complete a worksheet, or present a new idea. For example: The teacher asks students to form pairs or groups to com- plete a task that requires collaboration, such as creating a diagram of the water cycle or coming up with skits to illustrate a set of vocabulary words. The teacher asks students to read their neighbor's work and then provide feedback on how their neighbor can improve their work.	
9.2 The teacher promotes students' interpersonal skills, such as perspective taking, empathizing, emotion regulation, and social problem solving ¹²	The teacher does mote students' ir sonal skills.	s not pro- nterper-	The teach students' skills in a l cial manne For examp tells stude each othe group exe a child to sorry" to a or encoura to take tur activity. H teacher do why these important	er promotes interpersonal brief or superfi- er. ble: The teacher ents to "Help r" during a rcise, asks "Say you're a classmate, ages children rns during an owever, the bes not explain e behaviors are	The teacher students' in skills by end perspective thizing, emd lation, or so solving. For example asks a stude you think the her (classm ter in a bood After readin about a chai is blind, the students to it would be couldn't see	r promotes terpersonal couraging taking, empa- otion regu- ocial problem e: The teacher ent, "How do nat made him/ ate or charac- k) feel?" ng a story aracter who teacher asks imagine what like if they e.

Table 10: Examples of Social and Collaborative Skills behavior scores

Students do not collab- orate <u>OR</u> when students interact with one another, they display negative behaviors. For example: When asked to pick partners for an activity, students pur- posefully exclude one or more of their peers.	Students collaborate superficially; there may also be minimal instances where students display negative behaviors (e.g., teasing, pushing, bully- ing); however, these be- haviors are isolated and minor or playful (i.e., no student is upset) and are not a core characteristic of the classroom. For example: Students share materials among themselves in a group, but they complete the ac- tivity independently and do not collaborate with one another on problem sets.	Students collaborate with one another by working together to produce a product, solve a problem, complete a worksheet, or present a new idea. There are no displays of nega- tive behavior. For example: Students work in groups to com- plete a task that requires collaboration, such as creating a diagram of the water cycle or coming up with skits to illustrate a set of vocabulary words.						
12 Perspective taking: The ability to consider a situation from a different point of view. Empathizing: The ability to recognize and share another's emotions. Emotion regulation: The ability to effectively manage and respond to an emotional experience. Social problem solving: The process that an individual goes through to solve an interpersonal problem. This may involve applying aspects of perspective taking, empathizing, or emotion regulation to a social situation.								
	Students do not collab- orate <u>OR</u> when students interact with one another, they display negative behaviors. For example: When asked to pick partners for an activity, students pur- posefully exclude one or more of their peers.	Students do not collab- orate <u>OR</u> when students interact with one another, they display negative behaviors. For example: When asked to pick partners for an activity, students pur- posefully exclude one or more of their peers. Students collaborate superficially; there may also be minimal instances where students display negative behaviors (e.g., teasing, pushing, bully- ing); however, these be- haviors are isolated and minor or playful (i.e., no student is upset) and are not a core characteristic of the classroom. For example: Students share materials among themselves in a group, but they complete the ac- tivity independently and do not collaborate with one another on problem sets.						

Source: Teach Primary: Observer Manual.

Socioemotional Skills: Heterogeneity Analysis

Figure 17 shows the average scores across the three elements that constitute Socioemotional Skills. This information is broken down into two subcategories: urban/rural

While there is no statistically significant difference between rural and urban teachers in promoting autonomy, there is a statistically significant difference between both in promoting perseverance and social and collaborative skills, with urban teachers scoring higher in both.



Figure 17: Socioemotional Skills – Heterogeneity Analysis

Source: Teach Primary BiH Database, 2022.

Understanding teachers' implementation of inclusive practices

In order to understand the extent to which observed teachers in BiH are implementing effective inclusive teaching practices, we undertook a focused examination of behaviors within Teach Primary that are linked to principles associated with the Universal Design for Learning (UDL) framework. The UDL, which has been internationally acknowledged as an authoritative framework of inclusive education, consists of three main principles as well as a set of guidelines and checkpoints that encourage teachers to apply resources, flexible instructional strategies and curricula design in a way that helps support the needs of diverse learners (CAST, 2018; Rao, Ok, & Bryant, 2014). These principles, which are applicable across levels of schooling, are as follows:

- **Providing multiple means of representation** (how students best learn) entails the importance of presenting information in different ways to maximize learning opportunities for all students, including students with disabilities.
- **Providing multiple means of action and expression** (how students communicate what they learn) highlights the need for teachers to provide students with alternative ways to demonstrate their learning and understanding.
- **Providing multiple means of engagement** (what motivates students to learn) recognizes that pupil motivation and engagement in learning can occur in multiple ways. As such, teachers need to use different strategies and forms of learning, such as kinesthetic, visual, or oral approaches to sustain student interest.

The methodological approach applied for this part of the study followed previous analytical techniques used by Molina et al. (2021) and involved mapping the content of the Teach Primary tool to the UDL framework. This process constituted mapping specific behaviors of Teach Primary to specific components associated with UDL principles, an exercise that was followed by a two-way validity check involving, first, the review of four experts on inclusion and, second, a subsequent review of three experts on Teach Primary (see Molina et al., 2021 for further details). **Table 11** presents the resulting mapping of Teach Primary behaviors in the UDL framework.

UDL Principle	UDL Sub-principle	Teach behaviors
1.Multiple means of representation	1.1. Provide options for perception: This includes offering ways to customize the display of information, offering alternatives for auditory and visual information.	1.3: The teacher responds to students' needs3.1: The teacher articulates the objectives of the lesson and relates classroom activities to the objectives
	1.2 Provide options for language & symbols: This includes clarifying vocabulary and symbols, syntax and structure, supporting decoding of text, mathematical notation, and symbols, promoting understanding across languages, and illustrating through multiple media.	3.2: The teacher explains content us- ing multiple forms of representation 4.3: The teacher adjusts teaching to the level of the student
	1.3 Provide options for comprehension: This includes activating or suppling background knowledge, highlighting patterns, critical features, big ideas, and relationships, guiding information processing and visualization, and maximizing transfer and generalization.	3.3: The teacher makes connections in the lesson that relate to other content knowledge or students' daily lives
2.Multiple means of action & expression	2.1 Provide options for physical action: This includes varying the methods for response and navigation, and optimizing access to tools and assistive technology.	8.2: The teacher has a positive atti- tude towards students' challenges
	2.2 Provide options for expression & commu- nication: This includes using multiple media for communication, using multiple tools for con- struction and composition, and building fluencies with graduates levels of support for practice and performance.	3.4: The teacher models by enacting or thinking aloud7.1: The teacher provides students with choices
	2.3 Provide options for executive functions: This includes guiding appropriate goal-setting, supporting planning and strategy development, facilitating managing information and resources, and enhancing capacity for monitoring progress.	 5.1: The teacher provides specific comments or prompts that help clarify student misunderstandings 5.2: The teacher provides specific comments or prompts that help identify student successes 8.3: The teacher encourages goal setting
3.Multiple means of engagement	3.1 Provide options for recruiting interest: This includes optimizing individual choice and autonomy, optimizing relevance, value, and authenticity, and minimizing threats and distractions.	2. 1: The teacher sets clear behavioral expectations2.2: The teacher acknowledges positive student behavior
	3.2 Provide options for sustaining effort & persistence: This includes heightening salience of goals and objectives, varying demands and resources to optimize challenge, fostering collab- oration and community, and increasing mas- tery-oriented feedback.	 8.1: The teacher acknowledges students' efforts 9.1: The teacher promotes students' collaboration through peer interaction 9.2: The teacher promotes students' interpersonal skills 9.3: Students collaborate with one another through peer interaction
	3.3 Provide options for self-regulation: This includes promoting expectations and beliefs that optimize motivation, facilitating personal coping skills and strategies, and developing self-assessment and reflection.	No behavior in Teach

Analytical approach

The team used the mapping described above to compute the Quality of Inclusive Teaching Practices score and derived descriptive statistics on the overall score, areas, and elements described in **Table 11**.

Results: Inclusive teaching practices

Figure 18 presents the distributions of the overall Quality of Inclusive Teaching Practices score as well as scores for each UDL principle. This figure shows that just over two-thirds of all teachers that were observed (69%) demonstrate high-quality inclusive teaching practices, which is defined here as scores above 3.

Figure 18: Descriptive Statistics for UDL Principles and Overall Quality of Inclusive Teaching Practices Scores















Conclusion and Recommendations

This report has shown that observed teachers in the five selected cantons of BiH demonstrate a wide range of pedagogical practices in their classrooms, including many which are associated with effective teaching. For example, results from TEACH Primary indicate that observed teachers demonstrate effectivenessin fostering classroom culture, with over 90% of teachers scoring above 3 out of 5 on the Teach scale. This shows that observed teachers use effective practices when it comes to creating a supportive learning environment and setting positive behavioral expectations. However, these teachers are somewhat effective at using practices linked to instruction of lesson content which includes lesson facilitation, using checks for understanding, providing feedback to students and promoting critical thinking. Among these areas, teachers demonstrate a high level of effectiveness in lesson facilitation during their observations, and moderate effectiveness at checking for understanding but were less effective in providing feedback and providing activities aimed at developing critical thinking skills in their classrooms (Figure 5). Finally, when it comes to Socioemotional skills, the most common practices were observed in relation to providing and instilling autonomy for students, whereas the least observed practices are building perseverance and social and collaborative skills. A relatively low share of observed teachers (11%) scored between 4-5 on a 5 point Teach scale in perseverance and social and collaborative skills (Figure 2).

Regarding observed teachers' implementation of effective inclusive teaching practices, as determined through mapping Teach Primary behaviors to the UDL framework, this analysis has revealed that teachers, in general, could benefit from greater support in this area **(Figure 18)**. Of all principles associated with the UDL, teachers' strongest area of effectiveness is observed in using multiple means of representation to explain lesson content which relates to the provision of options for perception, language and symbols as well as comprehension in the classroom. Observed teachers were less effective, however, in providing multiple means of engagement which here is defined by the teachers' capacity to provide options for recruiting students' interest and sustaining effort and persistence in the classroom. Teachers also can improve in providing multiple means of action and engagement which is characterized through the UDL framework as providing options for physical action, expression, and communication as well as executive function within lessons.

Within this context, the report puts forward four main recommendations for next steps and further action by education policymakers and practitioners in BiH. These are described in more detail below.

1. Promote socioemotional learning as a priority, both in teaching practices in the classroom and in teacher training programs.

Through the TEACH Primary classroom observation study in 5 cantons of BiH, one area that stands out as a definite area of improvement, is the need to build stronger social and emotional skills through classroom teaching. "Social and emotional skills" refer to the abilities to regulate one's thoughts, emotions and behaviour. These skills differ from cognitive abilities such as literacy or numeracy because they mainly concern how people manage their emotions, perceive themselves and engage with others, rather than indicating their raw ability to process information. Social and emotional learning (SEL) has been shown to influence many important life outcomes, but also to influence the development and use of cognitive skills. Social and emotional skills have also been found to be good predictors of educational, labour and social outcomes. The benefits of developing children's social and emotional skills go beyond cognitive development and academic outcomes; they are also important drivers of mental health and labour mar-

ket prospects. Social and emotional skills are an important developmental outcome in their own right. The ability of citizens to adapt, be resourceful, respect and work well with others, and to take personal and collective responsibility is increasingly becoming the hallmark of a well-functioning society. Skills such as co-operation, empathy, and tolerance are key for citizens and nations to achieve sustainable development goals and to effectively participate and contribute towards building democratic institutions.¹³

The results from the TEACH Primary study described in this report show that observed teachers require more support to integrate SEL into their teaching and learning activities. These skills can ensure that students not only build strong and healthy relationships with their peers, but also can lead to improved academic learning. A recent OECD Survey (OECD, 2021) assessing students' SEL skills found that students' social and emotional skills are strong predictors of school grades across students' background, age cohorts, and cities. Additionally, evidence also suggests that the relationship between social and emotional skills and school performance is nuanced- some skills are essentially uncorrelated with school performance but other skills, most notably persistence and curiosity, are strongly related to higher school performance for both 10and 15-year-olds (OECD, 2021).

Teachers and schools are expected not only to raise student academic performance, as measured through learning assessments, but to provide emotionally supportive environments that contribute to students' social and emotional development (Blazar & Kraft, 2017). In recent years, two research approaches have examined this issue using empirical evidence. The first focused on estimating teachers' contribution to student outcomes, often referred to as "teacher effects" or "teacher value-added" (Chetty, Friedman, & Rockoff, 2014). These studies found that, as with test scores, teachers vary considerably in their ability to impact students' social and emotional development in a variety of observed school behaviours (Gershenson, 2016). The second research approach focused on classroom observations as a means of identifying aspects of teaching practices that affect students' cognitive as well as social and emotional outcomes (Blazar & Kraft, 2017). Teachers' interactions with students, classroom organisation, and emphasis on critical thinking in specific subjects were found to support students' development in areas beyond their core academic skills (Blazar & Kraft, 2017). Studies linking data on teachers and students suggest that teachers have an impact on students' social and emotional skills.

Given this evidence it will be imperative to provide BiH teachers the tools to build spaces in their classroom that encourage SEL skills such as building student autonomy, perseverance and providing opportunities for collaboration. Additionally, Social and Emotional Learning is a relatively new area and less common topic in teacher training and competency frameworks for teachers. Given the research evidence on the importance of SEL in teaching and learning process, it becomes imperative to support education systems to develop a holistic strategy at national, regional and local levels. A set of specific teacher competencies related to SEL could be integrated within the existing teacher qualification framework for BiH which provides strategic guidance to different cantons on developing SEL-based training modules. A two-fold approach to introduce SEL-oriented teaching practices in pre-service training as well as in continuous professional development program is important. As the education systems in BiH train new teachers through pre-service teacher education curriculum and that SEL is seen as a priority for teacher development. This will help to ensure that teachers are able to apply SEL techniques in the classroom. Training modules on SEL should focus on building relevant competencies and

¹³ https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/92a11084-en.pdf?expires=1676947171&id=id&accname=ocid195787&checksum=8D0238B608680E-16C4F63FA3CF02D759

supporting teachers to apply SEL practices in their everyday teaching, beyond knowledge building. Classroom observations and providing teachers with formative feedback could further inform the impact of SEL-focussed training on teachers' practices.

2. Support teachers to be highly effective in instruction:

Teach results highlight that there remains an immense scope for teachers to enhance their effectiveness in instruction, especially in providing students' with feedback and encouraging critical thinking during lessons. Instruction of content is the core curricular activities led by teachers and most pre-service and in-service training is focused on enhancing teachers pedagogical knowledge. However, classroom observations data could signal "what teachers' actually do" during a typical teaching and learning activity, irrespective of "what teachers know" about pedagogical content. Teach results indicate that a majority of the observed teachers effectively use practices related to lesson facilitation such as sharing objective of their lesson with students, explaining content in different ways beyond text and verbal instruction such as, through graphics, videos, concrete objects etc, making connections with everyday life of students. However, teachers could be supported further in applying practices related to checks for understanding, providing students with feedback and encouraging critical thinking such that these practices become more integrated into regular instructional activities of teachers.

One-on-one coaching could be one of the methods through which teacher professional development on instruction can be effectively conducted, especially because the focus is the bring about a shift in the practices of teachers and effectively apply their existing knowledge on instruction into teaching practices (Wilichowski and Arrange 2022). One important consideration is that Teach results signal at least a moderate effectiveness in teachers' instruction, therefore, it is important that TPD is a reflective process for the teacher which can support teachers in cultivating a positive mindset towards instructional change and growth (Thomas, Knowland, and Rogers 2020).

A review of Teaching and Learning Material (TLM) provided to teachers could also help in identifying whether teachers receive enough guidance in using instructional practices effectively in their classrooms. The use of additional Teaching Guides along with existing materials may also help.

3. Utilize educational technologies (EdTech) to improve teacher training mechanisms

Evidence illustrates the important role that teachers' play in student learning. However, many teachers do not receive effective in-service professional development support and often teach without appropriate tools and/or resources (Hanushek, 2011). Yet education systems tend to deliver teacher professional development that is ad-hoc, is not equitably available, and employs a one-size-fits-all approach that is theoretical and often unrelated to teachers' needs (Popova, Evans, Breeding, & Arancibia, 2018) Furthermore, teachers often work in isolation in under resourced classrooms and schools, with restricted support from peers, school leaders and other leaders within the community. Given this, many teachers struggle to apply effective teaching practices. Subsequently, student learning is adversely affected. Given that the TEACH tool provides evidence of what skills are prominent amongst teachers in observed classrooms and what skills are less common, it calls into attention the importance of efficient teacher professional development (TPD) that would allow for missing skills to be built and nurtured. The data described in this report clearly show that teachers in the observed cantons of BiH require additional TPD tools that will help them build skills and further develop effective teaching practices, especially in the areas of providing feedback, stimulating critical thinking, promoting perseverance, and developing socioemotional skills.

TPD enhances student learning by supporting and improving teachers' adoption of effective teaching and learning practices. As outlined by the World Bank Coach principles (World Bank, 2021), high-quality in-service TPD is characterized by providing tailored, focused, practical, and ongoing support that will improve student-teacher interactions. These programs use data to tailor learning opportunities to align with teachers' needs. They are practical, enabling teachers to practice, reflect, and receive feedback, as opposed to theoretical programs in which teachers do not get a chance to practice new teaching strategies. These high-quality TPD programs are focused on mastering skills and knowledge by providing sufficient time to learn. Last, these programs offer ongoing support to teachers in the form of follow-up opportunities to practice new skills and knowledge.

Delivering high-quality in-service TPD that improves teacher-student interactions is a challenge that education systems have struggled to address adequately, especially at scale (Beteille & Evans, 2019). A plethora of experience with traditional models of face-to-face training that takes teachers out of the classroom have not made the desired transformations in teaching practices that improve student learning (Popova et al., 2018). However, one way countries around the world are addressing TPD challenges is by the effective use of technology (Quota, Cobo, Wilichowski, & Patil, 2022). When well integrated in the system, technology can enable high-quality TPD and lead to changes in teaching and learning outcomes. With its unique attributes of connectivity, interactivity, multimedia, and data processing, technology can enhance the design and delivery of TPD, especially in low-resource contexts.

For example, there are different ways that TPD methods can effectively leverage technology to increase participation, address scale, and account for capacity constraints. A review of global evidence for example highlighted six main methods, as shown in the table below. Further consideration of these methods and integration of tech-enabled delivery formats could help in BiH to increase participation, share best practices, and disseminate knowledge amongst teachers and practitioners.

TPD Methods	Technology-Enabled Delivery Methods
Communities of Practices	Internet-based group chats, video-conferencing Low-Tech: short message service (SMS), voice valls, cloud storage and file-sharing platforms
Modeling Best Practices	Audio-visual materials, vidoconferencing <u>Low-Tech</u> : Pre-loaded offline content on devices, photos
Coaching	AV materials, videoconferencing, internet-based chats Low-Tech: SMS, voice calls
Digital Resources for Learning	AV materials, open educational resources (OER), websites Low-Tech: Pre-loaded offline content on devices
Digital Resources for Teaching	AV materials, teaching software applications Low-tech: pre-loaded offline content on devices
Instructional Tips and Strategies	Low-Tech: SMS, internet-based chats

Source: World Bank (2021). Technology for Teacher Professional Development: Navigation Guide, A Summary of Methods.

4. Standardize and strengthen classroom observation strategies

One of the many ways in which teachers learn is through consistent and effective feedback mechanisms. While new strategies and actions can be taught during pre-service or in-service training workshops and other means of support, teachers also require consistent feedback on their skills inside the classroom. Having a standardized tool that is sufficiently aligned to teacher standards and to their in-service curriculum can aid with teacher progress. Currently, while there are classroom observations that take place as part of TPD in BiH, the process is not standard-ized or consistent.

Evidence shows that classroom observations when done effectively can lead to increased student outcomes (Bruns, Costa, & Cunha, 2017). A randomized evaluation of an education program in the Brazilian state of Ceara which focused on improving teacher effectiveness by increasing their professional interaction and sharing of classroom practices is one such example. In 175 of 350 secondary schools, teachers were provided with benchmarked feedback from classroom observations and access to expert coaching. Schools' uptake of the coaching program was high (85 percent). Over a single school year, the program increased teachers' time on instruction and student engagement and produced statistically significant gains in student learning on the Ceara state assessment and the national secondary school exit exam.

Classroom observations that provide teachers with feedback and an opportunity to practice certain skill sets is imperative. Effective pedagogical strategies related to instruction such as checking for understanding, providing feedback, and critical thinking, as well as SEL strategies are often included as topics in teacher-training, however, TEACH results in the observed BiH classrooms indicate that teachers may still struggle to apply them in their everyday teaching. Therefore, more practicum opportunities, and mentoring should target teachers' applying these skills in a lesson.

This also ties into areas where teacher behaviors are strong. In areas such as classroom culture and lesson facilitation, while there is strong evidence that teachers are displaying strong practices, having effective classroom observation strategies that can highlight evidence may be an effective way for teachers to learn from each other.

5. Build and strengthen teaching practices focused on inclusion

TEACH results in observed classrooms indicate that there is a need to build better inclusion practices. Ensuring that all students are supported to learn and succeed in the classroom has never been more important. Regarding BiH teachers' implementation of effective inclusive teaching practices, as determined through mapping Teach Primary behaviors to the UDL framework, this analysis has revealed that teachers, in general, could benefit from greater support in this area. Of all principles associated with the UDL, observed teachers require more support in providing multiple means of engagement which here is defined by the teachers' capacity to provide options for recruiting students' interest and sustaining effort and persistence in the classroom. Teachers also can improve in providing multiple means of action and engagement which is characterizes through the UDL as providing options for physical action, expression, and communication as well as executive function within lessons.

Given this, incorporating specific teacher actions in the classroom could greatly benefit both students and teachers. To build stronger practices for providing multiple means of engagement, it is important to understand that students have different learning styles and have markedly

different ways in which they can be engaged and motivated to learn. Some learners are highly engaged by spontaneity and novelty while others are disengaged, even frightened, by those aspects, preferring strict routine. Some learners might like to work alone, while others prefer to work with their peers. In reality, there is not one means of engagement that will be optimal for all learners in all contexts; providing multiple options for engagement is essential (UDL, 2023).

Using the UDL framework, it will be important then to equip teachers with skills to:

- Recruit interest teachers devote considerable effort to recruiting learner attention and engagement. But learners differ significantly in what attracts their attention and engages their interest. It is, therefore, important to have alternative ways to recruit learner interest;
- Sustain effort and persistence teachers have to be trained on providing options that can
 equalize accessibility by supporting learners who differ in initial motivation, self-regulation
 skills, etc and;
- Self regulation It is also important to develop learners' intrinsic abilities to regulate their own emotions and motivations. Teachers need to be trained on how to support their students to self regulate to manage their own engagement and affect (UDL, 2023).

To build stronger practices in providing multiple means of action and engagement, it is important to understand that learners differ in the ways that they can navigate a learning environment and express what they know (UDL, 2023). there is not one means of action and expression that will be optimal for all learners; providing options for action and expression is essential. To do this, teachers need to be trained on; (i) Physical Action- Tt is important to provide materials with which all learners can interact. Teachers need to be encouraged to use multiple forms of teaching materials to engage multiple learners; (ii) Expression and Communication - There is no medium of expression that is equally suited for all learners or for all kinds of communication. Teachers should be encouraged to provide their students multiple modalities for expression (UDL, 2023).

Finally, teachers also need to be supported to promote learning and resilience in classrooms with learners with disabilities. The COVID-19 pandemic has forced us to rethink how to promote learning and resilience in education systems, especially given clear signs of growing inequity. Learners with disabilities are among the most marginalized groups and the risks the pandemic poses for them are still essentially sidelined or considered as an afterthought. The role of teachers in inclusive education is fundamental. Inclusive education should not be a special skillset owned by only a few professionals, even if it is important to educate some teachers to become experts in individualized approaches to support learners with disabilities and provide effective support to other teachers and learners within general education classrooms. All teachers and school leaders need to be supported in understanding that every learner matters and matters equally. (Alasuutari & Wodon, 2021). Training that supports teachers to create inclusive learning spaces in BiH is imperative.

References

Alasuutari, H & Wodon, Q. (2021). Shifting Mindsets to Support Disability Inclusive Education. https://blogs.worldbank.org/education/shifting-mindsets-support-disability-inclusive-education

Araujo, Caridad, Pedro Carneiro, Yyannu Cruz-Aguayo, and Norbert Schady (2016). "Teacher-Quality and Learning Outcomes in Kindergarten." Quarterly Journal of Economics: 1415-53.

Bau, Natalie, and Jishnu Das (2017). "The Misallocation of Pay and Productivity in the Public Sector: Evidence from the Labor Market for Teachers." Policy Research Working Paper 8050. World Bank. Washington, D.C.

Beteille, T & Evans, D (2019). "Successful Teachers, Successful Students: Recruiting and Supporting Society's Most Crucial Profession." World Bank Group, Washington,

Blazar, D., & Kraft, M. A. (2017). Teacher and teaching effects on students' attitudes and behaviors. Educational evaluation and policy analysis, 39(1), 146-170.

Bold, Tessa, Deon Filmer, Gayle Martin, Ezequiel Molina, Christophe Rockmore, Brian Stacy, Jakob Svensson, and Waly Wane (2017). "What Do Teachers Know and Do? Does It Matter?: Evidence from Primary Schools in Africa." Policy Research Working Paper 7956. Washington, D.C. World Bank. Washington, D.C.

Bruns, B., De Gregorio, S., & Taut, S. (2016). Measures of effective teaching in developing countries. Research on Improving Systems of Education (RISE) Working Paper, 16(009).

Bruns, B., Costa, L., & Cunha, N. (2017). Through the Looking Glass : Can Classroom Observation and Coaching Improve Teacher Performance in Brazil?. Policy Research Working Paper;No. 8156. World Bank, Washington, DC. © World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/27962 License: CC BY 3.0 IGO

CAST (2018). Universal design for learning guidelines version 2.2 [graphic organizer]. Wakefield, MA: Author.

Chetty, R., Friedman, J. N., & Rockoff, J. E. (2014). Measuring the impacts of teachers I: Evaluating bias in teacher value-added estimates. American economic review, 104(9), 2593-2632.

Cruz -Aguayo, Ibarraran, Pablo, Schady, Norbert (2017). Do tests applied to teachers predict their effectiveness? Economic Letters (159), 108-111.

Gill, Brian, Megan Shoji, Thomas Coen, and Kate Place. 2016. "The Content, Predictive Power, and Potential Bias in Five Widely Used Teacher Observation Instruments." National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance. Washington, DC.

Gershenson, S. (2016), "Linking teacher quality, student attendance, and student achievement", Education Finance and Policy, Vol. 11/2, pp. 125-149, http://dx.doi.org/10.1162/EDFP_a_00180.

Hamre, Bridget, Robert Pianta, Bridget Hatfield, and Faiza Jamil (2014). Evidence for general and domain-specific elements of teacher-child interactions: associations with preschool children's development. Child Development. (85), 1257-1274.

Hanushek, Eric A. (2011). "Valuing Teachers: How Much Is a Good Teacher Worth?" Education Next 11 (3): 40-45. http://hanushek.stanford.edu/publications/valuing-teachers-how-much-good-teacher-worth.

Holtzapple, Elizabeth (2004). Criterion-related validity evidence for a standards-based teacher evaluation system. Journal of Personnel Evaluation in Education. 17(3), 207-219.

Hu, L., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal, 6, 1–55.

Kane, Thomas & Staiger, Douglas. (2009). Estimating Teacher Impacts on Student Achievement: An Experimental Evaluation. NBER Working Paper. Washington, D.C.

Kane, T. J., & Staiger, D. O. (2012). Gathering Feedback for Teaching: Combining High-Quality Observations with Student Surveys and Achievement Gains. Research Paper. MET Project. Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.

Koo, T. K. and Li, M. Y. (2016). A guideline of selecting and reporting intraclass correlation coefficients for reliability research. Journal of Chiropractic Medicine, 15, 155-163.

Kraft, Matthew A., David Blazar, and Dylan Hogan (2018). The effect of teaching coaching on instruction and achievement: A meta-analysis of the causal evidence. Review of Educational Research.

Luna Bazaldúa, D. A., Molina, E., & Pushparatnam, A. (2021). A generalizability study of Teach, a global classroom observation tool. In M. Wiberg, D. Molenaar, J. Gonzalez, U. Bockenholt, & J.-S. Kim (Editors). Quantitative Psychology. Annual Meeting of the Psychometric Society. Switzerland: Springer Nature.

Molina, E., Carter, E., Luna-Bazaldua, D., Pushparatnum, A., & Singal, N. (2021). Teaching for All? Measuring the Quality of Inclusive Practices Across 8 Countries. Working Paper. World Bank, Washington, DC

Molina, E., Fatima, S. F., Ho, A., Melo, C., Wilichowksi, T., & Pushparatnam, A. (2020). Measuring the Quality of Teaching Practices in Primary Schools: Assessing the Validity of the Teach Observation Tool in Punjab, Pakistan. Teaching and Teacher Education. 96, 103171.

Milanowski, Anthony (2004). "The Relationship between teacher performance evaluation scores and student achievement: evidence from Cincinnati." Peabody Journal of Education. 79 (4), 33-53.

OECD (2019), TALIS 2018 Results (Volume I): Teachers and School Leaders as Lifelong Learners, TALIS, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/1d0bc92a-en.

OECD (2021), Beyond Academic Learning: First Results from the Survey of Social and Emotional Skills, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/92a11084-en.

Popova, A., Evans, D., Breeding, M., & Arancibia, V. (2018). "Teacher Professional Development around the World: The Gap between Evidence and Practice." Policy Research Working Paper 8572. World Bank, Washington, DC. World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/ han-dle/10986/30324 License: CC BY 3.0 IGO.

Quota, M., Cobo, C., Wilichowski, T., & Patil, A. (2022). Effective Teacher Professional Development Using Technology : Technology-Based Strategies from across the Globe to Enhance Teaching Practices - A Guidance Note. World Bank, Washington, DC. World Bank. https://openknowledge. worldbank.org/handle/10986/37983 License: CC BY 3.0 IGO

Rao, Kavita, Ok, Min W, and Bryant, Brian R (2014). A Review of Research on Universal Design Educational Models. Remedial and Special Education, 35(3), 153–166. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741932513518980

Rockoff, Jonah E. (2010). "The Impact of Individual Teachers on Student Achievement: Evidence from Panel Data." The American Economic Review. 94 (2), 247-252.

Staiger, Douglas O., Rockoff, Jonah E. (2010). Searching for effective teachers with imperfect information. Journal of Economic Perspectives. 24 (3), 97-118.

Universal Design for Learning (UDL) Guidelines. (2023). Universal Design for Learning Guidelines. https://udlguidelines.cast.org/

UNICEF (2015). Child Poverty in the Philippines. United National Children's Fund. Makati City, Philippines. https://www.unicef.org/philippines/ChildPovertyinthePhilippines_web.pdf.

Wilichowski, Tracy, and Gabrielle Arrange. 2022. "Facilitating Effective 1-1 Coaching Sessions: Technical Guidance Note." Coach Series, World Bank, Washington, DC. License: Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 IGO

World Bank (2013). Basic Education Public Expenditure Review Phase II: School Based Management in the Philippines, An Empirical Investigation. World Bank. Washington, D.C.

World Bank (2018). World Development Report 2018: Learning to Realize Education's Promise. World Bank.

World Bank (2021). Coach: Helping Countries Accelerate Learning by Improving In-Service Teacher Professional Development. https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/teachers/brief/coach-help-ing-countries-accelerate-learning-by-improving-in-service-teacher-professional-development

Annex 1: Summary Table of Results

		No	Yes			
	Teacher provides learning activity	7%	93%			
Time on			Low	Medium	High	
learning	Students are on task 6 or more students are of 3%	< f taks	2 to 5 students are off task	0 or 1 students are off task		
	5.0	14%	76%			

	Element Description & Distribution		Behaviors	Low Description	Low	Medium Description	Med	High Description	High	N/A
	SUPPORTIVE LEARNING ENVIRONMENT: The teacher retates a classroom environment where students can feel emotionally safe & supported. Moreover, all students feel welcome, as the teacher treats all students respectfully.	1 0%	1.1: Respect	Does not treat all respectfully	1%	Treats all somewhat respectfully	7%	Treats all respectfully	92%	
		2 1% 3 14%	1.2: Positive Language	Does not use positive language	6%	Uses some positive language	17%	Consistently uses positive language	78%	
			1.3: Responds to Needs	Is not aware or does not respond to needs	3%	Responds but does not address the problem	11%	Responds & addresses the problem	41%	46%
SUPPO creates a emotion welcom promote behavior the teach parts of the		4 54% 5 31%	1.4: Bias and Stereotypes	Exhibits bias or reinforces stereotypes	3%	Does not exhibit bias but does not challenge stereotypes either	90%	Does not exhibit bias and challenge stereotypes	6%	
			1.4a Gender bias and challenges stereotypes	Exhibits gender bias or reinforces stereotypes	3%	Does not exhibit gender bias but does not challenge stereotypes either	91%	Does not exhibit gender bias and challenge stereotypes	6%	
			1.4b Disability bias and challenges stereotypes	Exhibits disability bias or reinforces stereotypes	2%	Does not exhibit disability bias but does not challenge stereotypes either	93%	Does not exhibit disability bias and challenge stereotypes	5%	
	POSITIVE BEHAVIORAL EXPECTATIONS: The teacher	1 1% 2 1%	2.1: Behavioral Expectations	Does not set clear expectations	3%	Sets unclear or superficial expectations	16%	Sets clear expectations	81%	
	behavior that meets or exceeds expectations. Moreover,	3 19%	2.2: Acknowledges Positive Behavior	Does not acknowledge positive behavior	44%	Acknowledges some behavior	35%	Acknowledges positive behavior	20%	
	ts of the lesson.	4 55% 5 23%	2.3: Redirects Misbehavior	Ineffectively redirects	5%	Effectively redirects or somewhat effective	18%	Effectively redirects or students are well- behaved	77%	

Element Description & Distribution		Behaviors	Low Description		Medium Description	Med	High Description	High	N/A
1 0	196	3.1 Articulates Lesson Objectives	Does not state objective or cannot be inferred	3%	States broad objective or can be inferred	17.0%	States specific objective that's aligned to activities	80%	
LESSON FACILITATION: The teacher facilitates the lesson to promote comprehension by explicitly articulating the objectives, providing clear explanations of concepts, & connecting the lesson with other content knowledge or	%	3.2 Explains content using multiple forms of representation	Explains content using one form of representation	3%	Explains content using two forms of representation.	21%	Explains content using three or more forms of representation	77%	
students' experiences. 3 19	9%	3.3 Connects Lesson	Does not connect	23%	Superficially or unclearly connects	22%	Meaningfully connects	55%	
4 32 5 48	2% 8%	3.4 Models by Enacting or Thinking Aloud	Does not model	8%	Partially models	15%	Completely models	77%	
CHECKS FOR UNDERSTANDING: The teacher checks for understanding to ensure most students comprehend the	196 196	4.1 Uses Questions & Prompts to Determine Understanding	Either does not ask or the class responds in synchrony	6%	Asks effectively only of a few students	30%	Asks effectively of most students	65%	
lesson content. Moreover, the teacher adjusts the pace of the lesson to provide students with additional learning 3	1%	4.2 Monitors During Independent / Group Work	Does not monitor students	7%	Monitors some students	17%	Systematically monitors most students	51%	25%
opportunities. 4 27 5 34	7% 4%	4.3 Adjusts teaching	Does not adjust	25%	Adjusts, but briefly and superficially	25%	Substantially adjusts	49%	
FEEDBACK: The teacher provides specific comments or prompts to help identify misunderstandings, understand 3 33	4% 9% 3%	5.1 Provides Comments / Prompts to Clarify Misunderstandings	Does not provide comments about misunderstandings or comments are simple	19%	Provides general or superficial comments about misunderstandings	37%	Provides specific & substantive comments about misunderstandings	44%	
successes, & guide thought processes to promote 4 15 learning. 5 15	5% 9%	5.2 Provides Comments / Prompts to Identify Successes	Does not provide comments about successes or comments are simple	43%	Provides general or superficial comments about successes	36%	Provides specific & substantive comments about successes	21%	
CRITICAL THINKING: The teacher builde students' stilled	3% 1%	6.1 Asks Open-ended Questions	Do not ask OR asks one open-ended question	45%	Asks two or more but does not build on student responses or 1 is a follow-up to a response	22%	Asks 3+ & at least 1 builds upon student responses	33%	
thinking shills by apparturging them to actively analyze	1%	6.2 Provides Thinking Tasks	Does not provide thinking tasks	23%	Provides superficial thinking tasks	46%	Provides substantial thinking tasks	31%	
content. 4 21	1% 3%	6.3 Students ask Open-Ended Questions &/or Perform Thinking Tasks	Students neither ask nor perform	26%	Students do not ask, but perform superficial thinking tasks	47%	Students ask &/or perform substantial thinking tasks	27%	

	Element Description & Distribution		Behaviors	Low Description	Low	Medium Description	Med	High Description	High	N/A
4	AUTONOMY: The teacher provides students with	5%	7.1 Provides Students with Choices	Does not explicitly provide choices	60%	Explicitly provides with at least 1 superficial choice	21%	Explicitly provides with at least 1 substantive choice	19%	
i	n the classroom. Students make use of these	14% 49%	7.2 Provides Opportunities to Take on Roles	Does not provide opportunities	40%	Provides opportunities to take on limited roles	18%	Provides opportunities to take on meaningful roles	43%	
s	expressing their ideas & opinions throughout the lesson.	21% 12%	7.3 Students Volunteer to Participate	Students don't volunteer	9%	Few students volunteer by expressing their ideas and taking on roles	25%	Most students volunteer by expressing their ideas and taking on roles	66%	
	PERSEVERANCE: The teacher promotes students' efforts 1 oward the goal of mastering new skills or concepts, 2	7% 36%	8.1 Acknowledges Students' Efforts	Does not acknowledge efforts	41%	Sometimes acknowledges efforts	32%	Frequently acknowledges & identifies efforts	28%	
motiona	nstead of focusing solely on results, intelligence, or natural abilities. In addition, the teacher has a positive 3 attitude toward challenges, framing failure & frustrations as	35%	8.2 Positive Attitude Toward Students Challenges	Has a negative attitude	13%	Has a neutral attitude	69%	Has a positive attitude	19%	
ocloe	useful parts of the learning process. The teacher also 4 encourages students to set short- &/or long-term goals. 5	13% 9%	8.3 Encourages Goal- Setting	Does not encourage short or long-term goalsetting	59%	Encourages short or long-term goalsetting, or discusses their importance	25%	Encourages short & long-term goalsetting	15%	
	SOCIAL & COLLABORATIVE SKILLS: The teacher 1 encourages students' collaboration with one another and 2	55% 13%	9.1 Promotes students collaboration	Does not promote collaboration among students	67%	Promotes superficial student collaboration	12%	Promotes substantial student collaboration	21%	
ł	oromotes students' interpersonal skills. Students respond 3 o the teacher's efforts by collaborating with one another in 4	12% 11%	9.2 Promotes Students Interpersonal Skills	Does not promote interpersonal skills	66%	Briefly or superficially promotes interpersonal skills	21%	Promotes interpersonal skills	13%	
t	he classroom, creating an environment free from physical 5 or emotional hostility.	10%	9.3 Students collaborate with one another	Students don't collaborate or display negative behaviors	66%	Students collaborate some & rarely display negative behaviors	13%	Students consistently collaborate & display no negative behavior	21%	

Annex 2: Observer Feedback

It is also interesting to note, that during observer interviews conducted by proMENTE during the TEACH training process, observers noted that critical thinking was a skill they felt teachers needed more training on. Based on anecdotal evidence during these interviews, observers pointed out that classroom lessons are often delivered with a strong focus on rote learning. Observers noted that teaching is lecture-based, and is mainly based on encouraging students to memorize facts. Additionally, observers postulated that the feedback teachers provide to students to support them in identifying successes or resolving ambiguities is insufficient. The lack of evidence on appreciation of the positive behavior of students is also noticeable and reflected in the related Teach scores (under Behavior 2.2) of observed cantons of BiH . Finally, observers also mentioned that while Socio Emotional Learning is extremely important, there is not enough sufficient training for teachers to exhibit the required skills in their classrooms to support students.

On the other hand, observers state that aspects of class culture are mostly satisfactory. Teachers treated students with respect, used positive language in class, often responded to students' needs. However, behaviors where teachers either supported the existence or encouraged challenging of stereotypes related to gender or students' difficulties were less frequently observed. Also, they were faced with examples where ethnocentrism was encouraged through the teaching process. Ethnic identity is one of the primary identities in Bosnia and Herzegovina, which results in the division of the Bosnian-Herzegovinian society on the ethnic principle. Therefore, observers suggest that the Teach Primary tool captures the challenging of stereotypes related to ethnicity if it is going to be used as a standardized observation tool.

Finally, observers also believe that the Teach Primary tool should be adapted for observations of combined classes, given that the dynamics of the educational process in such classrooms are complex. Most students complete their primary education in single grade classrooms. Nevertheless, a significant number of students attend combined classes, i.e. teaching for several classes at the same time which the tool does not take into consideration in its current form.